Open Agenda , oK .

Council

Education and Children's Services
Scrutiny Sub-Committee

Monday 28 November 2011
7.00 pm
Ground Floor Meeting Room G01B - 160 Tooley Street, London SE1 2QH

Membership Reserves

Councillor David Hubber (Chair) Councillor Darren Merrill
Councillor the Right Revd Emmanuel Councillor Victoria Mills
Oyewole (Vice-Chair) Councillor Lisa Rajan
Councillor Sunil Chopra Councillor Nick Stanton
Councillor Adele Morris Councillor Mark Williams

Councillor Rosie Shimell
Councillor Althea Smith
Councillor Cleo Soanes
Reverend Nicholas Elder
Colin Elliott

Leticia Ojeda

Nick Tilderley

INFORMATION FOR MEMBERS OF THE PUBLIC

Access to information You have the right to request to inspect copies of minutes and
reports on this agenda as well as the background documents used in the preparation of
these reports.

Babysitting/Carers allowances If you are a resident of the borough and have paid
someone to look after your children, an elderly dependant or a dependant with disabilities
so that you could attend this meeting, you may claim an allowance from the council.
Please collect a claim form at the meeting.

Access The council is committed to making its meetings accessible. Further details on
building access, translation, provision of signers etc for this meeting are on the council’s
web site: www.southwark.gov.uk or please contact the person below.

Contact Julie Timbrell on 020 7525 0514 or email: julie.timbrell@southwark.gov.uk

Members of the committee are summoned to attend this meeting

Annie Shepperd l 4
Chief Executive ‘
Date: 18 November 2011

PRINTED ON
RECYCLED PAPER



cﬁ";‘.’&

Council

Education and Children's Services Scrutiny
Sub-Committee

Monday 28 November 2011
7.00 pm
Ground Floor Meeting Room G01B - 160 Tooley Street, London SE1 2QH

Order of Business

Item No. Title Page No.
PART A - OPEN BUSINESS

1. APOLOGIES

2. NOTIFICATION OF ANY ITEMS OF BUSINESS WHICH THE CHAIR
DEEMS URGENT

In special circumstances, an item of business may be added to an agenda
within five clear working days of the meeting.

3. DISCLOSURE OF INTERESTS AND DISPENSATIONS

Members to declare any personal interests and dispensation in respect of
any item of business to be considered at this meeting.

4. MINUTES

To approve as a correct record the Minutes of the open section of the
meeting held on

5. CHILDREN AND YOUNG PEOPLE PLAN (CYPP) WITH SOUTHWARK 1-11
YOUTH COUNCIL AND SPEAKERBOX

6. REVIEW OF PARENTING SUPPORT - PART 2 : SUPPORT FOR
PARENTS

2nd invite to groups and parent & carers of disabled children to give
evidence to the meeting on the parenting support

7. SCHOOL ADMISSIONS REVIEW - FEEDBACK 12-21



Item No. Title Page No.

The Cabinet responded to the scrutiny School Admissions review on the
22 November 2011. The report and action plan are attached.

8. REVIEW OF CHILDHOOD OBESITY AND SPORT PROVISION -
FINALISE REPORT

9. REVIEW OF UNIVERSAL FREE HEALTHY SCHOOL MEALS 22-128

10. UPDATE ROTHERHITHE SCHOOL

11. UPDATE ADULT EDUCATION

12. WORKPLAN

DISCUSSION OF ANY OTHER OPEN ITEMS AS NOTIFIED AT THE
START OF THE MEETING.

PART B - CLOSED BUSINESS

DISCUSSION OF ANY CLOSED ITEMS AS NOTIFIED AT THE START
OF THE MEETING AND ACCEPTED BY THE CHAIR AS URGENT.

Date: 18 November 2011



Agenda ltem 5

Item No. | Classification: | Date: Meeting Name:

Open 28 November 2011 Education and children’s
services scrutiny sub-
committee

Report title: Quarterly Review of the Children and Young
People’s Plan
Ward(s) or groups All
affected:
From: Assistant Director Strategy and Change, Children’s
Services
RECOMMENDATION

1.

To receive the report: CYPP Review 2011, presented to Southwark’s Children
and Families’ Trust Executive.

BACKGROUND INFORMATION

2.

The Children and Young People’s Plan (CYPP) is the overarching strategic
framework for services for children, young people and families in Southwark. It
was approved by Council Assembly on 24 March 2010 and came into force on 1
April 2010.

At the 12 January 2011 Education and Children’s Services Scrutiny Sub-
Committee meeting, members agreed to jointly monitor the CYPP at quarterly
meetings with Southwark Youth Council, and in line with the statutory duties set
out in government guidance regarding plans’ development and delivery. A report
was presented at the scrutiny sub-committee meeting on 11 April 2011 as part of
the introductory session to the CYPP.

The report at Appendix 1 was provided to Southwark Children and Families’
Trust Executive meeting on 22 September 2011.

Community impact statement

5.

Although this report is an update briefing, the issues covered affect all sections of
the community. Equality and diversity issues were central to the development of
the CYPP, and underpin its priorities. Further, potential impact on the community
is central to the children’s trust’s risk and assurance framework, ensuring that
any potential issues are flagged for the trust’s consideration.



APPENDICES

No. Title

Appendix 1 CYPP review 2011

AUDIT TRAIL

Lead Officer Kerry Crichlow, Assistant Director, Strategy and Change,

Children’s Services

Report Author Adrian Ward, Head of Strategy, Planning and Performance

Version DRAFT
Dated 17 November 2011
Key Decision? No

CONSULTATION WITH OTHER OFFICERS / DIRECTORATES / CABINET MEMBER

Officer Title

Comments Sought

Comments included

Strategic Director of Communities, Law
& Governance

No

No

Finance Director

No

No

Cabinet Member

No

No

Date final report sent to the Scrutiny Team

18 November 2011




Item No. | Classification: | Date: Meeting:
Open 22 September Southwark’s Children and
2011 Families’ Trust Executive
Report title: CYPP review 2011
From: Adrian Ward, Head of Strategy, Planning and
Performance
Purpose

The 2010-2013 Children and Young People’s Plan (CYPP) took effect on 1 April
2010. This report provides a summary of progress towards achieving these priorities
as well as of the priorities for the rest of the year.

Recommendations

Members are asked to:
1. Note progress towards achievement of CYPP priorities, as set out in appendix 1
2. Agree priorities for the rest of the year in achieving further progress

Strategic issues for discussion

An analysis of performance across a range of key measures for 2010/11
demonstrates services are performing well in providing effective, quality services and
improving the outcomes of the children and young people of the borough. Across the
partnership, there has been solid progress towards achieving the priorities set out in
the CYPP, the headlines of which are set out in appendix 1 alongside the key
priorities for the rest of the year.

This progress is set against the context of a rapidly changing national and local
landscape, including diversification of the schools system, wholesale transformation
of health structures, anticipated overhaul of the safeguarding system as a result of
the Munro Review, and significant budget reductions across all partners. The CYPP
has, and will continue to be, the backbone of partners’ actions to improve the quality
of provision and services, as well as plans for transformation, achieving savings, and
commissioning and decommissioning decisions.

These national and local changes present immense challenges. In order to continue
to raise the bar in outcomes, and achieve locally agreed priorities, partners have
committed to accelerating the transformation of the local system. This includes being
determined to reduce duplication, streamline pathways and processes, and ensure
reduced resources are channelled to maximum effect on the front line. It is essential
that early intervention has the impact intended, and that all partners continue to
foster a culture of excellence, innovation and autonomy that provides the best
opportunities for children, young people and families to thrive. This means a
continued emphasis on strong universal services, with a diversity of provision and
providers, and an increasing focus on protecting young people and families who are
most vulnerable through targeted, early interventions and high-quality specialist
services that meet their needs.

Progress against five themed priority areas
There has been good progress against all five priority areas of the CYPP, as follows:

Thinking family — families at the centre of all we do
As well as improving young people’s participation in decision-making, reconfiguring



integrated and targeted youth provision, and improving the range and quality of
provision for young people, work is also ongoing to increase the number of families
who are a healthy weight through a good range of programmes to promote healthy
lifestyles, including establishing a joint review action group. In addition there has
been strong performance improving the health, educational attainment and
independence of children with learning difficulties and/or disabilities, and provision for
families most in need has been reconfigured to provide a holistic spectrum of
intervention and support.

Narrowing the gap — better and more equal life chances for all

There have been further improvements in educational outcomes for a number of
ethnic groups across all key stages and subjects, with many performing in line or
above national or statistical neighbour averages. At early years foundation stage, for
example, the gap between the lowest 20% of children and the rest of the cohort has
further narrowed for the fifth successive year. In addition, ongoing investment and
reconfiguration of maternity and antenatal services is leading to better performance,
such as early access to services, breastfeeding and immunisation rates.

Raising the bar — high-quality provision that meets local needs

There have been accelerated and sustained improvements in attainment across all
key stages, resulting in performance in line or above comparator averages. In
addition a refreshed school improvement strategy, with strong leadership, support
and challenge to schools and settings, resulting in continued improvements in
standards across all key stages, particularly at early years foundation stage. In
addition, there have been above-national average increases in attainment at 19,
including strong performance raising attainment in sixth-form provision, including
being the most-improved borough in 2010 for average point score per student.

Succeeding into adulthood — at-risk young people achieve wellbeing

Successes include strong improvements in both participation and attainment at post-
16, falling rates of those not in education, employment or training, which are the
lowest in central London, declines in reoffending and first time entrants rates for
young offenders, and reductions in teenage conceptions, which have fallen over 25%
in the ten years since 1998. Partners’ transformation plans will ensure there are
strong multi-agency approaches and strengthened pathways to specialist support
through universal and targeted provision.

Working together — children are safeguarded from harm and neglect

A comprehensive range of services and support continue to ensure children and
young people have a safe environment including further reductions in the numbers of
fatalities and serious injuries from road accidents. There has also been solid
performance in identifying, assessing and safeguarding children, alongside effective
multi-agency work to support children with a child protection plan, as well as ongoing
work to transform domestic abuse provision to better support families in need.

Priorities for the year

As outlined in appendix 1, however, services are setting strong priorities, which focus
on improving outcomes in the context of reduced resources. These include a greater
focus on early help, supported by effective, integrated services working to improve all
aspects of the child’s journey and reduce the need for statutory intervention. Further
action is also required to tackle the borough’s most intractable problems, including
the local high levels of child obesity, and to accelerate progress in reducing teenage
conceptions, youth offending and numbers of young people not in education,
employment or training. At a universal level, priorities focus on improving the quality
and choice of services, as well as fair access to them, with children and families
supported to participate as fully as possible.



Appendix 1: CYPP review — progress achieving priorities, March 2010 to August 2011

CYPP priority

| Achievements in past year

| Priorities for this year

Thinking family — families at the centre of all we do

Simplifying how
you access
services and
information about
them

- Expanded and improved online information, including development
of GIS mapped information

- Improvements in information sharing through ongoing alignment of
the authority’s website and Family Information Service (FIS) directory,
plus expansion of service information captured on directory to achieve
priority of having ‘one place’ where residents can access information

- Expand range of services accessible in one place, either
via the phone or online, including enhancing integration
with council-wide systems to achieve efficiencies

- Make better use of existing community providers through
enhancing information sharing

Improving the
quality, suitability
and range of
activities for
children and young
people

- Strengthened participation model through relaunched Southwark
Youth Council and new youth community councils bringing young
people into heart of local decision-making, including regular meetings
with cabinet member, deputations at Council Assembly and
participation in Teenage Pregnancy Commission and children’s and
education scrutiny committee meetings

- Reconfiguration of youth service underway to enhance focus on
providing high-quality interventions targeted at our most vulnerable
young people, supported by a quality universal offer

- Young people also involved in reviewing the quality of provision
jointly with service managers and have been instrumental in
supporting the development of a local accreditation strategy

- Complete reconfiguration to secure a better-quality youth
offer

- Ensure young people have real power over 20% of the
youth service budget

- With the youth council, promote the youth elections
provisionally planned for February 2012 to further
strengthen young people’s participation in local democracy

Independence for
children and young
people with
learning difficulties
and/or disabilities
(LDD), and their
families

- Good outcomes for children with LDD, who are performing at or
above national averages across all key stages and good rates of 16
to 19 year olds accessing education, employment or training (EET)

- Increasing independence through wide range of support and short
break services developed in line with the needs and views of service
users, such as expansion of independent travel training, which is now
offered as option for home-to-school transport

- Parent Partnership Service successes include developing training
offer for those with children with autism to include input from partners
- Joint transition team across adults and children services established

- Using personalisation as a driver for change, begin to
reconfigure the system to improve the choice, control and
independence of children and families, simplify provision
and pathways, and achieve efficiencies

- Publish short breaks statement following completion of
needs assessment and user consultation

Children and
families being a
healthy weight

- Slight fall in obesity levels at year 6 and levelling in rate at reception
year; however partners recognise these remain unacceptably high

- Launch of free healthy school meal programme in ten pilot schools
in January, with roll out to all reception and year 1 pupils in
September until all ages covered by September 2013

- Conclude child obesity action group, which is seeking
ways to overcome barriers to improved performance, with
focus on early years and changing entrenched behaviour
in families and communities

- Continue emphasis on maternity and early years,




CYPP priority

Achievements in past year

Priorities for this year

- Successful initiatives targeting early years and school-age healthy
eating and activity, including buggy walks and healthy maternity
workshops for professionals and local community groups, a family
wellbeing pilot in the Walworth cluster of schools, and Superstars
Challenge in ten local schools

- Extensive partnership working to target hotspot areas, including
promoting Change 4 Life across schools, and a weight
communications project in collaboration with The Voice newspaper
which is raising awareness in the west African community

including developing a healthy living framework for
children’s centres, involving all partners

- Participate in national pilot to improve the diets of very
young children in early years settings and at home

More effective
support for families
most in need

- Following a review of parenting provision, parenting support services
and programmes across universal, targeted and specialist services
brought together into a new delivery unit

- Good support for parents through a wide range of evidence-based
programmes

- Transform the children’s centre offer to establish a
dedicated family centre for work with high-risk families
- Further develop partnership-wide approach to holistic
working around families with complex needs

- Continue to use intelligence from statutory services to
develop and target preventative services

Narrowing the gap — better and more equal life chances for all

Better health for
babies, infants and
mothers

- Joint partnership investment to reconfigure maternity and antenatal
services has secured significant improvements in key health
outcomes, including the number of expectant mothers accessing
maternity care by 13 weeks, breastfeeding prevalence rates at 6-8
weeks, coverage of MMR1 by age 2, and infant mortality rates

- Well-established children’s centres network acting as hubs for multi-
agency early intervention and prevention programmes, supported by
continued investment in enhanced health services

- Continue work to reconfigure the community midwife
service and pathway through children’s centres to
strengthen support

- Develop health and wellbeing board and local clinical
commissioning consortia

Early years
provision that
meets the needs of
vulnerable children

- Provisionally in 2011, the gap between the bottom 20% of EYFS
achievers and their peers narrowed for fifth consecutive year

- Reconfiguration of children’s services to embed our integrated
working teams completed

- Childcare Sufficiency Assessment completed, and this is supporting
improved focus on more vulnerable groups in local childcare
provision; in addition continuation of pilot providing free early
education entitlement for disadvantaged two-year olds

- Increase take-up of childcare and early years services by
better targeting help at the most disadvantaged groups to
- Improve support packages for children in need through
more effective commissioning

- Reconfigure integrated child support service to achieve
efficiencies and further localise support around the child,
school or setting

Children in care
achieving their
educational
potential

- 2010/11attainment of children in care is improving and
outperforming national counterparts at KS2 English and KS4 5+ A*-C
grades, although performance in KS2 maths dipped this year

- Performance remains strong for children being on roll, with low

- Strengthen support through appointment of an education
lead and establish school structure to support improved
educational outcomes

- Improve pupil tracking and support through joint working




CYPP priority

Achievements in past year

Priorities for this year

numbers of exclusions and good attendance levels as well as good-
quality personal education plans

- Strengthened support through appointment of a virtual head and
establishment of a cross-disciplinary team including co-located social
workers

to help improve progress and attainment for this group

Raising the
achievement of
those groups falling
behind

- Gaps in achievement between pupils in receipt of a free school meal
(FSM) and their peers at KS2, KS4 and for 16 year olds achieving
either a level 2 or level 3 qualification by age 19 are considerably
narrower than the national gap

- Gap between low and high achievers is also narrowing, with
analysis of KS2 data indicating the proportion of children achieving an
average point score of 24 or below at KS2 has fallen from 34% in
2007 to 25.5% in 2010

- Comprehensive equality impact assessment regarding attainment
informing service improvements, supported by development of more
robust data systems to ensure we can capture the needs and
outcomes of our most vulnerable young people and target resources
accordingly

- Assessing Pupil Progress materials rolled out across all primary and
secondary schools, including academies, through an innovative
partnership with the Institute of Education

- Further work with schools to ensure they have clear and
rigorous tracking of individual pupil progress to ensure
timely impact

- Embed and mainstream support for ethnic minority
students and other groups at risk of falling behind

Raising the bar — hi

gh-quality provision that meets local needs

Children are school
ready and schools
are child ready

- Attainment in line with national average in 2010 for early years
foundation stage (EYFS) profile, with provisional 2011 results
indicating further improvement

- Percentage of children in receipt of a FSM at EYFS profile achieving
a good level of development in 2010 rose by 9% compared to 6%
nationally

- More early years and childcare settings rated good or outstanding,
standing at 60% in June, and first inspections of children’s centres
identifying solid standards and no inadequate provision

- Refocus the centres to ensure they continue to support
our most vulnerable children

- Revise commissioning model to enable more tailored
support and the development of provision that works
across a range of providers

- Ensure provision is underpinned by a clear framework of
impact and improving outcomes for individual children

Every school and
setting aspires to
excellence

- Accelerated and sustained improvements bringing attainment across
all key stages in line with or above comparator averages, with
provisional KS2 results showing further improvement

- More good-quality universal provision, with nearly 75% of nursery

and primary, and secondary provision judged by Ofsted to be good or

- Continue to work closely with school leaders to refresh
school improvement strategy to realise our CYPP vision of
every school being judged good or better, with no school
achieving below national expectations and no child left
behind




CYPP priority

Achievements in past year

Priorities for this year

outstanding, an increase from 67% and 57% respectively last August
- Refreshed school improvement strategy supporting rising standards,
such as six of the eight schools included in the authority’s school
improvement plan to the Department for Education in April improving
their results above the 60% floor standard, with two exceeding 90%

- Number of primary schools with attainment below 60% for the past
five years fell from three to one between 2010 and 2011

- Number of hard-to-shift schools which have dipped below floor
standards in three out of the past four years fell from eight to five
between 2010 and 2011; of these five schools, two more achieved at
least 60% in 2011, demonstrating sustainable improvements which
are breaking the cycle of underperformance

- Further develop approach to using data and intelligence
to systematically identify and intervene at the first signs of
decline, in order to enable the brokering of robust and,
where necessary, radical solutions to secure sustained
improvements

- Continue to support school leaders to establish an
education partnership to deliver school-to-school support

Schools and
settings are able to
meet their students’
needs

- High levels of good behaviour and attendance in schools and
settings, with Ofsted judging behaviour to be good or better in over
80% of our secondary schools

- Reconfigured integrated child support service working jointly with
schools to track, monitor and provide targeted support to pupils at risk
of poor attendance or exclusion, as well as to improve schools’
capacity to reduce persistent absence

- Overall absence rates in line with or above national averages and
falling persistent absence rates at primary and secondary levels, and
no permanent exclusions in primary schools for the past two years

- Good performance for children and young people who do not attend
school through the Southwark inclusive learning service, with Ofsted
judging no provision to be inadequate, and rising attainment, with a
quarter of pupils in the KS4 pupil referral unit achieving 5+ A*-G
grades, compared to a national rate of 15.9%

- Develop local response to transformation outlined in
special educational needs green paper, including
improving integrated working across health, education and
social care, and increasing the focus on earlier support
and intervention and personalisation

Raising attainment
at 19

- Strong performance raising attainment in sixth-form provision, with
the average point score per student rising to 645.9 in 2010, making us
the most-improved borough in the country from last year

- Second most-improved average point score per exam entry in 2010,
moving Southwark from the bottom to the top quartile

- Continued strong collaboration with partners and providers to
develop a broad and balanced curriculum that meets the needs of all
young people supporting increasing numbers of young people in EET,
which is now in line with the England average

- Reconfigure the delivery of information, advice and
guidance to ensure provision better meets the needs of
local learners and complies with new legislation

- Support for the new sixth forms at Sacred Heart School
and St Michael's College




CYPP priority

Achievements in past year

Priorities for this year

- Solid progress at Southwark College after a satisfactory inspection
last March brought it out of Ofsted category; attainment is anticipated
to rise in 2011 as a result of improved quality in leadership, teaching
and learning, including more rigorous target setting, the extending of
opportunities for progression and the introduction of a lesson
observation system

- Other progress includes reconfigured delivery of information, advice
and guidance to ensure provision better meets the needs of local
learners, which came into effect in April

Succeeding into ad

ulthood — at-risk young people achieve wellbeing

More young people
in education,
employment or
training

- Strong reductions in the number of young people who are not in
education, employment or training (NEET)

- Launch of university scholarship scheme to support most
disadvantaged young people further their education

- Partnership actions to enhance the local offer include extending
vocational and work-based learning opportunities through the
successful Education Business Alliance, as well as refining and
enhancing out-of-school provision and foundation learning offer

- For those at risk of disengaging from education, the borough’s KS4
engagement programme, which schools now fund in recognition of its
value, provides a flexible, coherent and personalised programme of
study with clear progression pathways

- Complete establishment of youth fund to provide
additional support helping more vulnerable young people
into EET, including initiatives to support young people into
work opportunities as an alternative to education

- Support development of Southwark College’s proposals
for a local university technical college

- Develop partnership working to deliver European Social
Fund initiatives to reduce the number of young people who
are NEET

Young people in
care succeed as
young adults

- Establishment of a multi-agency strategic group ensuring smoother
transition into adulthood for children in care and robust tracking of
care leavers to ensure engagement and appropriate support

- 98% of care leavers still in touch with the service

- Extension of CAMHS support from 16 to 18 years of age

- Excellent services for care leavers through much improved multi-
agency, collocated support providing effective targeted provision
following holistic assessments and screening

- Pioneering partnership approaches, including care leavers’ coaching
scheme, drop-in services and enhanced partnerships with housing
and the NEET partnership, supported improved pathways to EET

- Further improve integration through bringing all services
together on one site

- Develop enhanced ‘staying put policy’ for more
vulnerable care leavers to better support transition at 18
- Strengthen local policies around appropriate
accommodation for care leavers in light of emerging
national policy

Less crime by and
against young
people

- Significant reduction in the number of first time entrants, which is the
second-most improved in London; however levels remain higher than
we aspire

- Develop a multi-agency, team around the child approach
with independent chairs to ensure a holistic response to
young offenders most at risk




CYPP priority

Achievements in past year

Priorities for this year

- Youth offending service reconfigured to strengthen statutory
provision and target its services to mitigate behaviours associated
with reoffending

- Strengthened partnership working to ensure all agencies play a key
role in preventing offending and reoffending, including shared
approach to managing high-risk and high-prevalence offenders

- Strong multi-agency partnership working and targeted, personalised
support for NEET offenders securing high levels of young offenders
taking up and remaining involved in EET

- Develop a multi-agency safeguarding hub to support
further reductions of referrals into social care

- Build on the improving quality and capacity of the youth
offending service to inform new ways of working and
reduce crime

Lower rates of
teenage
conceptions

- Strategic leadership, sustained investment and targeted
interventions have supported continued reductions in the rate of
teenage conceptions, which has fallen more from the 1998 baseline
than both the English and London averages

- Establishment of independent teenage pregnancy commission,
which used co-design principles to harness and build capacity in the
community and across the system to develop solutions

- Modernised sexual health services, with continuing improvements in
the numbers of under 25 years old accepting Chlamydia testing

- Highly successful two-year pilot of the Family Nurse Partnership, in
which we are investing to widen the eligibility criteria and targeted
nature of the service following a highly successful two-year local pilot

- Develop and implement recommendations of
independent commission

- Expand eligibility criteria and target nature of Family
Nurse Partnership

Working together —

children are safeguarded from harm and neglect

Services that meet
the needs of our
children and
community

- External evaluations continue to validate effectiveness of
safeguarding and children in care services, including two positive
unannounced inspections of contact, referral and assessment, and an
independent health-led safeguarding children improvement visit

- Effective preventative services and targeted early intervention
helping to reduce demand for statutory interventions, resulting in
falling levels of referrals into children’s social care, and fewer children
subject to a child protection plan or in care

- Revised local thresholds document and more targeted triage
supporting professionals in making more appropriate decisions
around referrals, increasing confidence in the system and reducing
inappropriate referrals to social care

- Improving performance across maijority of indicators, including an
increase in the percentage of referrals to children’s social care going

- Greater focus on early help to further reduce the need for
statutory intervention, supported by effective services to
improve all elements of the child’s journey

- Further falls in the volume of inappropriate referrals
through strengthened use of common tools, integrated
working practices and partnership practices such as triage
and the development of a multi-agency safeguarding hub
- Further strengthen the safeguarding board’s role,
including how it supports and challenges universal, early
intervention and preventative services to improve all
elements of the child’s journey, ensure these are targeted
at those on the cusp of care or custody and respond
effectively to recommendations of Munro Review

- Build on improvements in timeliness, quality of

ol



CYPP priority

Achievements in past year

Priorities for this year

to initial assessment, bringing us in line with the national average

- Strengthened role of Southwark Safeguarding Children Board
harnessing a culture of external challenge and continual improvement
through a well-received training programme, inter-agency audit
process and sharing of good practice

- Continuing good work raising awareness in the community, including
appointing lay members to the board, and continued commissioning
of local organisation Afruca to work with the community, including
developing a network and information exchange

assessment and consistency application of thresholds
through active monitoring and tying activity with wider
partnership work to improve quality, and reduce the need
for statutory intervention and inappropriate referrals

A stronger family-
based approach to
safeguarding

- Improving integrated and partnership working practices, such as the
creation of a specialist pre-birth team to address issues arising
around vulnerable parents

- Following systemic review of the use of common tools, better
assessment of needs and the identification of more appropriate
support for presenting issues

- Joint purchasing of expert assessments in court proceedings for
complex cases through South London and Maudsley NHS Foundation
Trust ensuring better safeguarding of children and support staying at
home where possible

- Reconfigure system to create a single point of access for
early intervention and specialist child health services,
using the common assessment framework as the referral
mechanism, supported by a rollout of multi-agency
training, and improved recording and quality assurance
systems

- In addition to designating a children’s centre as a multi-
agency family assessment centre and the creation of
integrated parenting services, further develop council and
partnership-wide discussions around developing new ways
of working around shared vulnerable families

- Research project underway to gather intelligence on the
range and severity of social and emotional difficulties
among looked after children under five to better inform
how social workers work with children and carers

Fewer children and
families
experiencing
domestic abuse

- Following review by children’s trust and Safer Southwark
Partnership, provision is being reconfigured in line with the needs of
our communities to increase accessibility, improve safety for victims,
develop offer based on risk and improve support for professionals

- Newly established cross-partnership domestic abuse commissioning
group retendering commissioned services based on above outcomes

- Develop a commissioned and contracted pool of
independent domestic violence advocates/case managers,
who are collocated and targeted at high-risk cases

- Complete refinement of MARAC to ensure it considers
the most high-risk perpetrators, with referral of all high-risk
IDVA-managed cases to MARAC

FE



2 Agenda ltem 7

Item No. | Classification: | Date: Meeting Name:
7. Open 22 November 2011 Cabinet

Report title: Response to the Education and Children’s Services
Scrutiny Sub-Committee's Review of School
Admissions

Ward(s) or groups All

affected:

Cabinet Member: Councillor Catherine McDonald, Children’s Services

FOREWORD - COUNCILLOR CATHERINE MCDONALD, CABINET MEMBER FOR
CHILDREN’S SERVICES

Providing an effective and efficient admissions service is vital in supporting families to
find the school best suited to their child’'s needs and to navigate the process
successfully. The council recognises the importance of providing school places that
meet parents’ preferences by guaranteeing a place in a local primary school for every
child who wants one. This year, this was achieved for all children who made an on-
time application, bar one who was offered a place slightly further afield and
subsequently pursued a place at a school in another borough.

The admissions service recognises that although most families are able to
successfully submit application forms on time and receive a school of their preference,
a significant number of families require additional help and support to understand the
process and be able to make appropriate school preferences for their children. We
have a duty and commitment to ensure that these families are supported to do so. In
particular, we recognise parents/carers with a child who has special educational needs
require as much information as possible, and we strive to provide this.

The service handles significant volumes — over 6,200 primary and secondary
mainstream applications were submitted on time by families last year for children due
to start school this September. There were a further 700 applications submitted after
the closing dates, as well as over 3,000 in-year applications, mainly from families who
have recently moved to the borough or are new to the UK.

The service seeks and welcomes feedback which enables it to improve the support it
offers, and it continues to identify areas for improvement. The Education and
Children’s Services Scrutiny Sub-Committee’s report and recommendations are
received in this context. The recommendations will help the service ensure that all
families in Southwark receive the support and information they may need to apply to
schools and receive a fair and equitable chance of obtaining a place of their
preference.

RECOMMENDATIONS

1.  Note and agree the response to the recommendations of the Education and
Children’s Services Scrutiny Sub-Committee.

2. Agree the action plan attached as Appendix 1.



13

BACKGROUND INFORMATION

Education and Children’s Services Scrutiny Sub-Committee

3.

On 12 July 2010, the Education and Children’s Services Scrutiny Sub-
Committee decided to conduct a review on school admissions. The review’s
findings were reported to the sub-committee on 28 June, and then presented to
cabinet on 20 September. Cabinet agreed that the recommendations be noted
and that the cabinet member for children’s services bring back a report to
cabinet in order to respond to the sub-committee by 22 November 2011.

Report summary

4.

The review focused on the clarity of information and availability of support
networks to help parents negotiate the admissions process for mainstream and
school admissions for children with special educational needs (SEN). Evidence
submitted to the review included a survey of parents/carers who had used the
secondary admissions service, as well as consultation with the Southwark
School Admissions Forum and the Parent Participation Forum.

The review identified 18 recommendations. These, broadly, included steps to:
make information simpler and easier to understand; extend and enhance
communications with parents/carers; and make it easier to complete the
application form and accept an offer.

Children’s services accept the recommendations made by the sub-committee.
This report contains a detailed response to each of the recommendations and a
summary action plan is included in Appendix 1.

Response to recommendations

7.

The report and its recommendations complement ongoing work in the
admissions team to continually improve the quality of the service it provides. The
2011/12 admissions round was the first undertaken under pan-London
coordinated admissions arrangements. This system has improved the
experience of families by requiring them to fill in only one application form
detailing up to six preferences for any London school, and by providing them
with a single offer of a place. This process has enabled local authorities to
eliminate surplus offers more quickly, resulting in vacancies being filled more
quickly and efficiently.

Ensuring that information is accessible and easy to understand is a key service
priority. The service annually reviews and seeks to improve the information
provided in printed material and online, and will use the intelligence gathered by
the review to support this process. In addition, the SEN and admissions teams
are working to improve the information available to parents/carers of children
with additional needs in light of the recent SEN and disability green paper’s drive
to publish a local offer of support. This includes an SEN school booklet, with
details of the building and staff resources available at each school, as well as a
SEN A-Z, which details resources and support available locally and nationally.

Another service priority is continually seeking to improve the support to
parents/carers who need additional help, such as those who have a child with
SEN or who have language or literacy difficulties. The programme of outreach



10.

14

provided by the parent partnership and SEN teams has been expanded, and the
service will continue to look for opportunities to address the needs and concerns
of these parents/carers, many of which were articulated in the review’s findings.

The admissions team also works closely with education planning colleagues to
ensure there is a sufficient supply of places to meet parental demand. This has
involved developing and refining processes to plan bulge classes and permanent
enlargements to meet the significant uplift in pupil numbers over recent years.
These service improvements support the council’s priority commitment to
guarantee a place in a local primary school for every child who wants one. For
the admissions round to enter reception year this September, the council offered
a place within 2 miles of the parental home for all children who made an on-time
application, bar one who was offered a place slightly further afield and
subsequently pursued a place at a school in another borough. This process is
under constant review and refinement in order to enable the council to meet
future demand effectively and efficiently.

KEY ISSUES FOR CONSIDERATION

Recommendations from sub-committee/response

11.

12.

13.

The Education and Children’s Services Sub-Committee made 18
recommendations, to which responses are set out below.

The guides to starting primary and secondary schools should be made easier to
navigate.

Response
Agreed. The service strives to ensure the information in the admissions

brochures is written as clearly and simply as possible within the minimum
requirements of the School Admissions Code of Practice. Following the sub-
committee’s report, officers obtained comments from parents through the parent
partnership service and also benchmarked the brochures against other
publications with a view to producing ‘starting school’ guides for 2012 which are
more parent-friendly and easier to navigate. Changes include simplifying the
text, cutting duplication, using colour-coordinated tabs to identify types of
schools, and using an easier-to-follow design. Further communication with
groups such as the Parent Participation Forum are planned to support
continuous improvements in the booklet’s readability.

There should be more information in the guides on special needs.

Response
Noted. There are additional guides to support families with a child with a

statement of SEN, and the SEN team is working to expand this information in
light of the green paper’'s recommendations. The service, however, recognises
that parents/carers of children with low-level special needs which may fall below
the threshold for a statement of SEN may find it difficult to access information
about which mainstream school would be most appropriate for their child. It will
continue to work with schools to improve the quality and availability of this
information, as well as to consider how this information can be made more
widely available.



14.

15.

16.

17.

18.

15

Consideration should be given to producing short simplified versions and/or
versions in different languages to meet the needs of parents where English is not
the first language.

Response
Noted. Consideration will be given to producing information in additional

languages. Families tell us that face-to-face support, with a translator, is more
helpful than printed material, and work continues to improve this aspect of the
service’s support within reducing budgets. This also includes working with
voluntary and community organisations to support the parent through the
process as well as improving the information available online.

Next year’s draft guide for primary school children should be brought back to the
Parent Participation Forum for feedback.

Response
Agreed.

Retain the school preference advisor for outreach and one to one support;
particularly focus their work on the needs of parents whose first language is not
English and parents of SEN children.

Response
Funding for the post was established following the cessation of central

government choice adviser funding because the level of demand for this kind of
support has increased year on year, demonstrating significant need within the
borough. This demand includes not only parents/carers who require language
support or have a child with SEN but also those who have literacy and/or
learning difficulties. The post is focused on providing outreach support via one-
to-one and group sessions.

Hold open days at schools, the council’s principal offices and in the community;
particularly focus these on the needs of parents whose first language is not
English, and parents of SEN children.

Response
Noted. As noted above, the school preference adviser provides support through

a programme of outreach work, including visits to schools with parents, one-to-
one and group meetings at community groups and schools, and drop-in sessions
at Sunshine House. The SEN team additionally provides special school open
evenings for parents. The service will continue to seek to expand and improve
the outreach on offer in response to families’ needs and the review’s findings
within the constraints of reducing budgets.

Contact university and hospital nurseries as well as Private, Voluntary and
Independent [‘PVI’] early years managers.

Response
Noted. The admissions team distributes information widely to a comprehensive

range of key contacts which includes university, hospital and PVI nurseries, and
this list is reviewed and updated regularly. Further support for children with a
statement of SEN prior to primary school entry is provided by the early
intervention team, which advises and supports parents and schools about the
process for school entry and transition from pre-school to school.



19.

20.

21.

22.

23.

16

Train workers and keep booklets on the admissions process at settings such as
libraries, one stop shops and community centres.

Response
Noted. The brochures are available in a range of settings including libraries and

one stop shops. Training is provided to customer service representatives and
one stop shop staff, and work is ongoing to improve the support offered through
these routes in response to feedback from parents/carers and customer-facing
staff.

Use networks and contact details more smartly to distribute information and send
reminders (health visitors, children centres, nurseries). Ensure they have
sufficient information and CAF forms.

Response
Agreed. Children’s centres, nurseries and schools already assist with the

distribution of information and application forms to families. This information is
also provided to health professionals including health visitors but the service
does not currently send forms or booklets for distribution by these agencies.
Consideration will be given to expanding the support roles these and other
agencies are willing and able to provide to families in respect of the school
admissions process.

Use face to face contact — health visitor 2 2 year check ups with parents, parent
mentors at the Parent Participation Forum, nursery school attendance.

Response
Agreed. Further consideration will be given to how this recommendation can be

developed and implemented across the school admissions process.

Cabinet do everything within its power to introduce a common test for secondary
school entry where this is required by schools.

Response
Agreed. As their own admissions authorities, Southwark’s secondary schools

can set their own entry test — this ‘banding’ test ensures that a fair mix of children
of different abilities gains entry to the school. Some pupils in Southwark have
had to sit up to six tests, depending on their choice of secondary school.
Following officer negotiations with local secondary schools that require
applicants to sit banding tests, agreement has been reached for two tests to take
place: one for applicants to any Harris academy in the borough; and one for all
other academies.

Draw up an open day schedule for parents of children with SEN.

Response
Noted. Implementing this recommendation will be considered. Open days are

promoted to parents who request information, and the SEN team follows up
open days with the offer of one-to-one detailed meetings as described above.



24.

25.

26.

27.

28.

29.

17

Ensure that carers and parents with more than one child in the same academic
year (who are not multiple births) can make a successful application.

Response
Agreed. The common application form has been amended for 2012 admissions

to enable parents with children born in the same academic to make this known at
the onset of the admissions process. This will ensure that they are able to
successfully make their requirements known, although it will not affect the
decision about the offer of a place, which is made according to the school’s
admissions arrangements.

Simplify the process so that parents and carers do not have to accept and
respond to both the local authority and school to successfully accept or decline a
place. Disable the automatic eform acceptance unless it is functional.

Response
Agreed. The acceptance process has been simplified for 2012 admissions. All

offers will be sent to families and deemed to be accepted. Should a family wish
to decline an offer, they will be asked to contact the admissions team to do so.

Offer more support around offer day and including additional information
explaining waiting lists and managing places.

Response
Noted. Comprehensive information on how to add a child’'s name to a waiting list

and how to submit an appeal against a decision is included with the offer letter.
The school preference adviser also provides additional drop-in sessions during
this time. The service recognises that offer day can be stressful for families and
is working to improve and expand the support available.

Before the date when allocations are announced, a briefing note be circulated to
all members giving information about the process.

Response
Agreed. This will be in place for the pan-London admissions processes. A

briefing note will be circulated to members once all offers have been finalised,
one working day before offer letters are posted to families.

Make meeting space available in the council’s principal offices, in addition to
one- stop shops, for staff to take appointments with parents.

Response
Noted. The parent partnership service, including the school preference adviser,

meets with parents at one stop shops as well as providing weekly sessions at
Sunshine House.

Retain the Admissions Forum.

Response
Noted. This recommendation will be put forward to the Admissions Forum at the

next appropriate meeting when a decision on the forum’s future is to be made in
anticipation of provision in the Education Bill before Parliament to remove the
duty to maintain admissions fora.



18

Community impact statement

30.

The school admission application process applies to all families with children of
school age. Parents of children with special needs often need to make additional
considerations in respect of the schools they are choosing to meet their child’s
needs. To enable fair access to school places for all sections of the community it
is essential that clear information is available and additional support to families
that have difficulty understanding the admissions process is required. The
recommendations detailed in this report and the action plan will help to achieve
fair access to school places in the borough.

Resource implications

31.

No additional resources are being requested to deliver the recommendations of
this report.

SUPPLEMENTARY ADVICE FROM OTHER OFFICERS

Strategic Director of Communities, Law & Governance

32.

33.

34.

35.

36.

37.

Cabinet are asked to note that the report is compliant with the relevant law and
that there are no legal implications arising.

The School Admissions Code 2010 is made under s.84 of the Schools Standards
and Framework Act 1998; and applies to admission authorities of maintained
schools and also to academies under their funding agreements with the
Secretary of State.

The Education and Inspections Act 2006 and the Code of Practice require local
authorities to exercise their functions with a view to promoting the fulfiiment of
educational potential, and ensuring fair access to educational opportunity.

Southwark Council is also required to ensure that admission arrangements for
schools in the area comply with statutory requirements and are clear, objective
and fair.

The proposals outlined are a means of delivering all of these requirements by
enabling potentially disadvantaged groups of parents to access information
appropriate to enable informed choices.

The Local Authority is also compliant with its duties and responsibilities under the
Equality Act 2010, in positively promoting access to information by diverse
communities and parents and children who have special educational needs
and/or disabilities.

Finance Director (CS0191)

38.

The financial implications are set out in paragraph 31 above.



19

BACKGROUND DOCUMENTS

Background Papers Held At Contact
School Admissions Code of Practice|160 Tooley Street Glenn Garcia
2010 London SE1 2QH 0207 525 2717
APPENDICES

No. Title

Appendix 1 Admissions information and process Action Plan 2011/12
AUDIT TRAIL

Cabinet Member | Councillor Catherine McDonald, Children’s Services

Lead Officer Romi Bowen, Strategic Director, Children’s Services

Report Authors | Glenn Garcia, Head of Pupil Access, and Yvonne Ely, Head of

SEN
Version Final
Dated 9 November 2011

Key Decision? No

CONSULTATION WITH OTHER OFFICERS / DIRECTORATES / CABINET
MEMBER

Officer Title Comments Sought | Comments included

Strategic Director of Communities, Yes Yes
Law & Governance

Finance Director

Yes

Yes

Cabinet Member

Yes

Yes

Date final report sent to Constitutional Team

10 November 2011




20

Admissions information - Action Plan 2011/12

No Recommendation

1

The guides to starting primary and secondary
schools should be made easier to navigate.

There should be more information in the
guides on special needs.

Consideration should be given to producing
short simplified versions and/or versions in
different languages to meet the needs of
parents where English is not the first
language.

Next year’s draft guide for primary school

children should be brought back to the Parent

Participation Forum for feedback.

Retain the school preference advisor for
outreach and one to one support; particularly
focus their work on the needs of parents
whose first language is not English and
parents of SEN children.

Hold open days at schools, the council’s
principle offices and in the community;
particularly focus these on the needs of
parents whose first language is not English,
and parents of SEN children.

Contact university and hospital nurseries as
well as Private, Voluntary and Independent
[“PVI"] early years managers.

Train workers and keep booklets on the
admissions process at settings such as
libraries, one stop shops and community
centres.

Use networks and contact details more
smartly to distribute information and send
reminders (health visitors, children centres,
nurseries). Ensure they have sufficient
information and CAF forms.

Owner

Admissions
team

SEN and
Parent
Partnership
teams

Admissions,
Parent
Partnership
and SEN
teams

Admissions
and SEN
teams

Parent
Partnership
team

Admissions,
Parent
Partnership
and SEN
teams

Admissions,
Parent
Partnership

Admissions
team

Admissions
and Parent
Partnership
teams

APPENDIX 1

Target date RAG
Assessment

Completed Completed.
For 2011 & On target
ongoing for 2012
Ongoing On target
Ongoing On target
May 2012 On target
Completed On target
ongoing On target
ongoing On target
ongoing On target
ongoing On target



21

No Recommendation

10

11

12

13

14

15

16

17

18

Use face to face contact — health visitor 2 %
year check ups with parents, parent mentors
at the Parent Participation Forum, nursery
school attendance.

Cabinet do everything within its power to
introduce a common test for secondary school
entry where this is required by schools.

Draw up an open day schedule for parents of
children with SEN.

Ensure that carers and parents with more than
one child in the same academic year (who are
not multiple births) can make a successful
application.

Simplify the process so that parents and
carers do not have to accept and respond to
both the local authority and school to
successfully accept or decline a place.
Disable the automatic eform acceptance
unless it is functional.

Offer more support around offer day and
including additional information explaining
waiting lists and managing places.

Before the date when allocations are
announced, a briefing note be circulated to all
members giving information about the
process.

Make meeting space available in the council’s
principle offices, in addition to one-stop shops,
for staff to take appointments with parents.

Retain the Admissions Forum.

Owner

Admissions
and Parent
Partnership
teams

Cabinet and
Children’s
Services
Department

PPS/SEN
meetings
with follow
up by SEN
Team with
1:1s

Admissions
team

Admissions
team

Admissions,
Parent
Partnership

Admissions
and SEN
teams

Admissions,
Parent
Partnership
and SEN
teams

Admissions

Target date

Ongoing

Summer term
2012

ongoing

2012
admissions
round

March 2012
(secondary)

April 2012
(primary)

March 2012
(secondary)

April 2012
(primary)

March 2012
(secondary)

April 2012
(primary)

ongoing

Spring term
2012

RAG
Assessment

On target

On target

On target

Completed

On target

On target

On target

On Target

On target



Bvaluation of Eat well Do Well
Kingstow upon Hull’s
School Meal nitiative

“t can now actually spend lunchtimes talking to staff about
educational Lssues rather than dealing with problems of behaviour on
the playground”

Headteacher

Professor Derek Colquhoun
Nigel Wright
Jo Pike
Lisa Gatenby

Centre for Educational Studies
Institute for Learning
University of Hull

January, 2008

o T




23

Cowntents

Executive Summary
Recommendations
Acknowledgements
Introduction
Evaluation Methods
Analysis

Section 1
Questionnaire data from the annual pupil survey
Introduction
Our data set
Underlying design
Key findings
More detailed findings
Feeling hungry
Healthiness
Dental issues
Reducing disadvantage
Headline figures from the pupil questionnaire 2007

Section 2

Nutritional aspects of Eat Well Do Well
Introduction

Methodology

The position in 2006

Nutritional comparisons between high and low
eligibility schools

Minimum amounts consumed at lunch
Hot dinners and packed lunches

The position in 2007

Hot school dinners

Packed lunches

Food diaries

Page

11

12
12
12
12
15
16
18
21
23
24
24
26

34
34
34
34
35

40
44
45
48
49
50
52



24

Section 3
Readiness to learn class teacher questionnaire
Introduction
Methodology
Amendments to the survey
Key findings
Key statistics
Respondents’ consumption of meals
Choice of dining environment
Dining location and job title
Dining location and school meals consumption
Dining location and support for the scheme
Respondents not eating the meals
Respondents eating the meals
Knowledge of children’s lunch choice
Response to scheme
Opposition to the scheme
Support for the scheme
School meal charges
Support for the scheme and responses to the
re-introduction of charges
Views of the Council
Impact of the Scheme
Stigma
Children’s behaviour
Teachers who eat the meals
Comparisons between free healthy school
meal children and others
Comparisons between breakfast club
children and others
Readiness to learn
After lunch
Concentration
Co-operation
Communication
Achievement
Self esteem
Readiness to learn trend data

99
59
59
60
61
61
63
65
65
66
67
68
68
70
71
71
72
73
74

76
77
78
79
80
81

82

83
85
86
87
88
88
88
89
89



25

Section 4
Examples of good practice
Longhill
Menu display and children’s involvement
Golden spoon
Maybury
Seamless provision
Bricknell
Fifth Avenue
Newland St Johns
Francis Askew
Clifton

Section 5

Since the re-introduction of charges for school
dinners by the Liberal Democrat administration
Interviews with headteachers

Comments from parents on the re-introduction
of charges

Conclusion

93
93
93
94
94
95
96
97
97
97
98
98

100

100
100

101
106



26

Executive Summary
Eat Well Do Well was a bold initiative by the Council in 2004. It was a good

news story for the city and placed Hull quite firmly at the centre of the ‘school
food movement’ — even before Jamie Oliver - occurring up and down the UK.
It was a very complex initiative operating on many levels and involving
different types of interventions including free, healthy breakfast, dinner, after
school snack and fruit for children up to Key Stage 2. These interventions
were rolled out systematically into schools at different times and in different

ways.

It is understandable then that the evaluation has collected considerable
amounts of data over three years. These data from questionnaires, interviews,
focus groups, observations and direct measurement provide a complex
picture which is sometimes contradictory and, as in the quote on the front
cover of this report, sometimes the impact of the EWDW initiative were
unintended. The evaluation team are confident they captured all aspects of

the initiative — both intended and unintended.

EWDW has had a significant impact on reducing disadvantage in relation to
perceptions of health and health behaviours or what some would call the
‘social gradient’. It has been impossible for us to differentiate the responses to
our final annual pupil questionnaire between those children who are eligible
for free school meals and those who are not in relation to their perceptions of
health and their health behaviours. The mechanisms for this lack of difference
are unclear but the impact of EWDW is beyond doubt — both in the school and

in the home.

EWDW has had an important impact on creating calmer learning
environments within which children have the opportunity to reach their
potential. Headteachers had witnessed the changes in their schools and were
generally delighted with the initiative. The role of adults in the dining room and
the social practices within the dining room are important aspects of the

initiative.



27

The nutritional aspects of EWDW are very complex. We know that packed
lunches generally contain high levels of fat, sugar and salt and that there is an
increase in the number of packed lunches at school since the re-introduction
of charges. The free, healthy school dinners generally meet Government
guidelines for school meals and over the three years of the initiative have
become more nutritious. However, when we look at children’s total daily
intake (including food eaten at school and home), it is clear that some families
can’t/don’t provide healthy food at home. If their child isn’'t eating the free,
healthy school dinner for one reason or another, then the total daily intake of
this child will be inadequate in the long term. We would urge the Council to

work with parents in a more innovate and ambitious manner.

The re-introduction of charges (£1.10 per day) has had a negative impact on
schools, children’s behaviour, families and opportunities for learning. Parents’
trust in the Council since the re-introduction of charges has reduced
significantly on a range of measures. The Council's ambitious health,
education and welfare agenda has been affected by the decision to re-

introduce charges for school dinners.

On a more optimistic note, there are many other pointers for future research
and activity for the Council: the re-measurement of children’s perceptions of
health and their school meals in May/June 2008 to examine further the impact
of the re-introduction of charges; interviewing headteachers and parents again
in May/June 2008; the investigation of gender issues in relation to children’s
experiences of lunchtime; the engagement of parents in school meals (and
probably curriculum in healthy eating); examining family food practices across
a longer time span with a particular focus on eating choices and healthy
purchasing; monitoring the long term impact on those children who have
experienced the EWDW over three years, especially as they make the
transition into secondary school; following the training of Ilunchtime
supervisors and monitoring the impact of this training on children’s eating and

dining room behaviour, to name but a few.



28

Recommendations
That Hull City Council re-introduce free, healthy school dinners for all primary

age children across the city and continue to provide free, healthy breakfast,

fruit to KS 2 and after school snack.

That Eat Well Do Well be supported significantly by the Council and this
support to include innovative ways of working with children and parents to
improve and maintain uptake of the free, healthy school dinners and breakfast

club attendance.

That partnerships with other programmes be enhanced and developed
(especially Healthy Schools and ‘Shape Up’ but also with other initiatives such

as the ‘Food For Life Partnership’).

Acknowledgements
As was the case for our other reports, we would like to thank the

headteachers, teachers, parents and children who responded to our
questionnaires, the members of the school communities for our case study
schools, the members of our Parents’ Advisory Group, the Hull City Council
staff involved in the Eat Well Do Well initiative (Rayma Crawford and Sue Rae
in particular, as well as the staff in Hull Catering), members of the
International Advisory Group for the evaluation, members of the Project Board
and Management Group for the evaluation, and the research team at the
University especially, Lisa Gatenby, Sue Holden, Zoe Johansson, Jackie

Lison, Martha Paisi, Jo Pike and Tina Taylor.

Introduction
In April 2004 Kingston-Upon-Hull City Council embarked on an ambitious,

innovative and exciting programme which provided approximately 25,000
primary age school children access to free school meals which may have
included healthy breakfasts, hot lunches/dinners, fruit up to Key Stage 2 and
after school snack. Learning and Culture within the City Council worked in
partnership with the two Primary Care Trusts (PCT’s) in the city to develop

and implement the initiative.



29

The programme was approved by the Schools Standards Minister who
supported the programme through his special ability and ‘powers to innovate’
under section 2 of the Education Act 2002 to suspend the relevant sections of
the Education Legislation (section 512 of the Education Act 1996) that prohibit
Councils from providing meals and refreshments free. A major underlying
principle of the programme was the relationship between healthy eating and

academic attainment.

In addition to the provision of free healthy school lunches, breakfasts and after
school refreshments, Hull City Council became the first Local Authority in the
country to extend provision of free fruit and vegetables under the National
School Fruit and Vegetable Scheme (NSFVS) to Key Stage 2 children. The
NSFVS is part of the Government's 5 A DAY programme which is jointly
funded by the Department of Health and the Big Lottery Fund and provides a
free piece of fruit or a vegetable to children aged 4-6 years on each school
day. The scheme was rolled out in phases across the country and was
implemented locally in autumn 2004. Nationally, current provision extends
only to those children in Key Stage 1. However, Hull City Council extended
this provision so that all primary school children were offered a free piece of
fruit or a vegetable on each school day. Typically children received either,

bananas, pears, apples, satsumas, strawberries, cherry tomatoes or carrots.

The Institute for Learning at the University of Hull were commissioned to
conduct the evaluation of Eat Well Do Well for the full period of the initiative’s

implementation.

The overall aims of the 3 year evaluation were to:

e examine the extent to which the EWDW initiative has impacted upon
and met the needs of the participants® and the organisational
objectives set at the outset *(including children, teachers, parents,

headteachers, unions, caterers, PCTs);



30

e assess the nature of the engagement by participants with the differing

aspects of the programmes;

e identify which interventions/practices are most beneficial in terms of

securing the desired outcomes of the EWDW initiative;

e describe ways in which outcomes from the EWDW initiative are being

applied in schools.

To achieve these aims we adopted the following strategies:

a. Conduct in-depth formative and summative evaluations of the

C.

implementation of the EWDW initiative activities to date (taking note
of the phased in approach to the implementation of the
programme), with an emphasis on illuminating input and history,
practices / processes / mechanisms, outputs, impacts and
outcomes at three levels (see below);

Conduct in-depth formative and summative evaluation of the
EWDW initiative on which we would report, to enable the City
Council to decide whether or not to sustain the programme in the
long term;

Provide evidence of the impact of the EWDW initiative on schools

and school communities.

Evaluation Methods

This three year evaluation was complex and involved both qualitative and

quantitative data gathering methods. The qualitative data were collected

through interviews, focus groups and observations. The major quantitative

data collection methods included pupil, parent and teacher questionnaires.

The evaluation focused on children in years 4, 5, 6 as we felt that the quality

of the data we could gather from these children would be of sufficient quality

to support the evaluation. Activities with younger children were often



31

conducted and these included drawing, painting and using models and

plasticine.

The bulk of our data were gathered by our self completed Annual Health
Related Behaviour Questionnaire (for children in years 4, 5, 6) which was

administered in May/June each year.

At the same time we also administered a self completed Readiness to Learn

Questionnaire (for the teachers of children in years 4, 5, 6).

We have many observations of school dining rooms, especially of our case

study schools. These focused on social interactions in the dining room.

The actual total Nutritional Intake (in and out of school) was measured in a
sample of children. We also compared school dinners to packed lunches in
relation to nutritional intake by children; and, we compared the intakes of
children attending a more affluent school with that of children attending a

more deprived school.

We also had access to city and individual school data which we used to
inform the evaluation. It was important to recognise that Eat Well Do Well was
a whole system change and so far no other local authority in England has had

the ability to copy the initiative.

The evaluation team also collected height and weight measurements (and
thereby calculated Body Mass Index) as well as % body fat in a relatively

small number of children from our case study schools.

Later in the evaluation we conducted a Letter Recognition Test which we
developed to examine the impact of school food on children’s ability to
concentrate in class. This test was administered at four intervals throughout

one day, again across our case study schools.

10



32

We conducted two parent surveys, one during the initiative and the other after

the Council had reintroduced a charge for dinners.

We held focus groups with many parents during the initiative. We are thankful
for the support of the Parent’'s Advisory Group in supporting these focus

groups.

We interviewed the case study schools PSHE co-ordinators when they were

available for interview.

We held focus groups with the Hull Catering Area Supervisors to develop an

understanding of Eat Well Do Well from their perspective.

We interviewed all of our case study school Headteachers (except one who

refused to be interviewed).

We interviewed Lunchtime Supervisors where possible but also held focus

groups where they were more appropriate.

We interviewed the senior managers in Hull Catering.

Our 9 case study schools were selected from a matrix which included
geographical location, pre-Eat Well Do Well eligibility for free school meals,
their uptake of free school meals during the initiative, and size of school. This

ensured a ‘good spread’ of schools from across the city.

Analysis
The qualitative data were loaded into Atlas.ti (a software package for the
analysis of qualitative data) for subsequent analysis by the constant

comparative method.

11



33

Quantitative data were imported (either manually or scanned using Teleform)

into SPSS (Statistical Package for the Social Sciences) for later analysis.

Section 1
Questionnaire data from the annual pupil survey

Introduction

This section of our report is structured in the following way. In section two we
outline the nature and extent of the data set. In section three, this is followed
by an elaboration of our research design for the data collection and analysis.
In section four we provide a short statement of our key findings and this is
followed in section five by more detailed responses to aspects of the surveys.
This part of our report concludes with the key outcomes from this aspect of

our data collection.

Our Data Set

During the project we have collected substantial quantitative data on aspects
of the Free Healthy School Meals programme. A central part of this has been
our use, on an annual basis, of a questionnaire to all pupils in years 4, 5, & 6
on their perceptions of the Free Healthy School Meals. The questionnaires,
over the three years of data collection, have included a range of items about
pupils’ reactions to the meals and their eating habits. In order to facilitate
comparisons, 61 items have been common to each year. Data were collected
in June during the first two years of the project and in the third year, when it
was apparent that charges were to be re-introduced, the data were collected
in March. The net result of this data collection has been the accumulation of a
substantial data set, which effectively records the views of most pupils from

these three school years.

In addition to our survey data, we have been able to match pupils’ survey
responses with data supplied by the Local Authority, enabling us to identify
which pupils, in each year, were officially recorded as being ‘eligible’, in the
traditional sense, for a free school meal. In order to protect confidentiality but

to maintain accuracy in the merging of the data sets, pupils were asked only

12



34

to supply their dates of birth and to which school year group they belonged.
We were thus able to create a unique pupil identifier based upon the school’s
Ofsted number, the pupil year group and their date of birth. The identification
of these two groups is important as the traditional provision of a ‘free school
meal’ has been premised upon the assumption that one of the two groups
suffers disadvantage and is markedly different from the other (we will return to

this point later).

Virtually every primary school in the city has contributed to this exercise and
this further strengthens the findings which follow below. The data set is made
up of responses from 17,776 pupils. Within this, responses from boys and

girls were almost in equal proportions as figure 1 below indicates.

13



35

Figure 1: Respondents to questionnaire differentiated by gender.

Yearly responses

7000

6000

5000

4000

3000
2000 1

1000 1

number of pupils

OBoys
B Girls
0 Missing
O Total

2005 2006 2007

Overall, the total data collected each year increased, but the overall

proportions of boys and girls has remained almost the same with slightly more

boys returning questionnaire each year than girls.

Figure 2 below shows the year group of respondents from each of the three

years of the administration of the questionnaire.

Figure 2: Annual responses by year group.

Year group reponses

2500

N
o
o
o

1500 -

1000 1

500 1

Number of pupils

OYear 4
B Year 5
O Year 6

O Missing

2005 2006 2007

14




36

Across each of the three years, more pupils from the older years responded.

Underlying design

In evaluating a project such as this where, from the outset the designers of
the project had not sought to pilot the initiative, an evaluation design could not
have an experimental design with control and experimental groups. There are
important underlying ethical considerations as to why such a design would not
have been appropriate for an intervention which was assumed to have
beneficial outcomes for pupils. To deny a beneficial intervention to a section
of the school population in this way could have provided disadvantages.
Therefore, our task as evaluators was to devise a way of evaluating the extent
to which impacts could be assessed during the project. Given that it was a
three year project and that we were able to choose which pupil year groups
were appropriate, a design based upon a three by three matrix afforded a
number of comparative opportunities which would enable us to see whether or
not there were emerging ‘trends’. It is always important to be wary of trends
adduced from three point measures, but in this project, feasibility and cost
meant that this was the optimum which could be attempted. That said, our
data below do show some interesting indications which, had the project lasted

longer, would have provided important avenues for further investigations.

The benefits of our three by three matrix are best exemplified by means of the
diagram below as Figure 3. We have identified as a ‘key group’ pupils who in
2005, the first year of the intervention, were in Year 4 (These are shaded red
in Fig. 3).

15



37

Figure 3: A Matrix design for evaluating the survey data.

As the intervention matured, so we would be able to examine the responses
from this key group at yearly intervals when they became year 5 and then
year 6. Furthermore, our matrix also facilitated comparisons between year-
groups across the three years of the project, i.e. we could inspect responses
from year four pupils on three occasions namely in 2005, 2006 and 2007, and
in this way consider whether or not there was any evidence that responses
were improving as the initiative became embedded within developing school
cultures. This is particularly important as those who were year 4 pupils in
2005 had no previous experience of the Free Healthy School Meals, whereas
those year 4 pupils in 2007 would have had their first exposure to the
intervention as year 2 (7 Year olds) in 2005. In seeking to bring about
change, often a key question is at what point any intervention should begin.
By collecting and analysing our data in this way we believe that the outcomes
demonstrate that, with an intervention of this sort, the younger pupils are

when it is introduced the more likely it is to lead to positive outcomes.

Key Findings
In this section we present the salient outcomes from the project before, in

section 5, providing greater detail with which to substantiate our claims.

16



38

A key issue during the project has been the need to compare responses from
pupils who would have been traditionally ‘eligible’ for a free school meal and

those who would not have been.

A comparison across 44 items relating to food and eating indicated that there
are no statistically significant differences on 40 of these measures between
the ‘eligible’ and ‘non eligible’ groups. In terms of how pupils report on their
eating habits and responses to the free school meals, this suggests that the
two groups are in fact homogeneous and that an assumed gap between them
does not exist. To the extent to which school meals are about food and
eating, this lack of difference between these groups suggests that if one group

is eligible, then all should be.

Data indicate that the project has built up a positive impact on pupils’ eating
habits, with fewer avoiding breakfast, fewer reporting that they were feeling
hungry at the end of the day and a good deal more pupils reporting that they

were having an evening meal.

Our data do appear to suggest that prolonged exposure improves impact.
This is evidenced through overall increased uptakes of the meals with a
corresponding decline in reported take up of packed lunches. Reasons for
not taking school dinners, e.g. ‘don’t like it’, or ‘prefer packed lunch’ have
declined during the project, ‘less good’ habits e.g. no breakfast, eating on

way to school are reported to be declining.

Interestingly, more boys than girls report feeling hungry, in terms of when they
get to school, that in general terms they would like more to eat, they report
feeling hungry more often and that they often feel hungry when they go to
bed. Our data show that this aspect is worse with younger pupils as greater
proportions of year 4 pupils consistently report arriving at school feeling

hungry and generally feeling hungry.

In a number of aspects, girls report more favourably than boys in that more

girls than boys report trying to eat healthily, more girls report eating the Free

17



39

Healthy School Meals, more girls like eating the Free Healthy School Meals
and girls report eating more fruit and vegetables each day than boys. In
2005, 2006 these differences were statistically significant for all three year
groups surveyed but in 2007 whilst the differences were statistically significant
for years four and five, they were not for year 6. Further study would be
needed to ascertain whether this was an emerging change or whether in 2007

this was just a ‘blip’.

The topic of fruit and vegetable consumption produced results showing that
fruit consumption increased 2005 to 2006 but in 2007 dropped to levels lower
than 2005. This was evident in all year groups. Reported fruit consumption
declines with age. Reported consumption of 5 or more pieces per day has not

been claimed by more than 33.0% of pupils at any time in the study.

Hydration is considered important and just over half of pupils report drinking 3
or more cups of water per day with boys reporting drinking more water than

girls.

More detailed findings

Table 1 below reports the pupils’ responses in each year group for the three
years of the project to the question ‘Have you had the Free Healthy School
Meal?’

Table 1. Positive pupil responses to ‘Have you had the Free Healthy School Meal?

Yr 6 83.9% [84.5% |94.8%

Yr 5 83.9% [85.2% |94.5%

Yr 4 86.5% 83.5% [93.1%
2005 2006 2007

These data are interesting as the overall impression is one of a developing
trend. Reading the data diagonally from bottom left towards top right, the ‘key

group’ after a drop in 2006 showed a substantial increase in reported trying of

18



40

the meals. Similarly, pupils being surveyed for the first time in 2006 in Year 4
(83.5%) showed a noticeable increase as year 5 in 2007 to 94.5%. There
was even a small increase reported by 2005 year 5 pupils when they became

year 6 pupils in 2006.

In response to the question ‘Did you like it?’ data in table 2 below report a

similar but not identical pattern.

Table 2. Did you like the Free Healthy School Meal?

Yr 6 75.0% [7/4.6% [85.0%

Yr 5 80.7% [718.4% [87.1%

Yr 4 81.4% [81.9% [85.6%
2005 2006 2007

The pattern reported by the ‘key group’ remains consistent, and the year 4 in
2006 becoming year 5 in 2007 reflects the pattern in table 1. With the older
pupils earlier in the study, year 5 in 2005 becoming year 6 in 2006 responses

show a decline.

In table 3 reasons given by those who didn’t have the free school dinner show
a decline in those reporting they did not like it and also a decline in those

reporting preferring a packed lunch.

Table 3. Reasons given by those who reported not having the Free Healthy School

Meal.
[Don’t likelPrefer
it Packed
lunch
2007 6.3% 12.7%
2006 7.7% 15.3%
2005 7.9% 17.0%

19



41

Breakfast

We sought to collect data from pupils to inform us as to what they were doing
for breakfast and what they were eating. Some key points to emerge were
that each year more boys than girls reported having breakfast at home. When
we examined the responses by year group, it was consistently the younger
pupils who were reporting eating breakfast at home on fewer occasions than
their older peers. Over the three yeas of the project, the data show a small
increase in the percentage of pupils from the ‘key group’ who report having
breakfast at home from 68.3% in 2005 to 69.3% in 2007.

Examination of data from pupils in the ‘key group’ reporting their take up of
breakfast clubs showed an increase during the three years of the project from
9.3% in 2005 to 11.6% in 2007. Over the whole of the pupil sample, take up
by boys and girls at breakfast clubs was equal in 2005 and 2006 but in 2007
21.8% more boys than girls reported having breakfast at a school breakfast

club.

Eating on the way to school shows a decline over the period of the project
reducing from 6.4% in 2005 to 4.7% in 2007. Also in decline was the
percentage of pupils reporting having no breakfast. Within the ‘key group’ this

more than halved in percentage terms from 7.9% in 2005 to 3.0% in 2007.

Pupils were asked to indicate from a list, which items they had consumed for
breakfast that day. Of these, the most concerning was the continued
consumption of fizzy drinks at breakfast. Whilst this did show a decline over
the period of the project from 9.0% in 2005 to 7.6% in 2007, it still means that
over 500 pupils have a fizzy drink for breakfast and of these two thirds are
boys. There may be important behavioural considerations as a result of this

particular finding.

Evening meals
Pupils were asked what sort of evening meal they had, if any. Over the

period, with the ‘key group’ this showed an increase from 42.7% in 2005 to

20



42

58.0% in 2007. On the surface this looks like a positive outcome in that
children are eating more (one of the findings reported in our first interim report
was the issue of children feeling hungry). These data look like an indication
that children are being fed more. Taken in line with other findings from the
project a possible inference is that this is the case, given the more positive
reactions children were reporting to the free healthy school meals and their
overall eating habits. However, it could be suggested that more pupils were
eating evening meals because they felt they might not have been getting
enough at lunchtime. Time did not permit the evaluation team to explore the
content of these evening meals, and this would be an important issue for

future consideration.

In terms of less good habits in evening meals, we did record that fewer pupils
were reporting going to bed feeling hungry, down from 8.0% in 2005 to 2.4%
in 2007 with a comparable decline in the percentage of pupils reporting that
they had nothing to eat in the evening, down from 8.5% in 2005 to 3.6% in
2007.

Feeling hungry

This was a key outcome from our first interim report for 2005 and because
some of the findings were of concern, we tracked this issue throughout the
project. This was particularly important as the project became known as ‘eat
well do well’ and it is well known that learning can be impaired by feeling

hungry. To that end we asked five key questions about feeling hungry:

Do you often feel hungry?

Do you feel hungry when you get to school?
Would you like more for dinner?

Do you feel hungry before dinner?

Do you feel hungry before going home?

In response to ‘Do you often feel hungry?’ a larger percentage of boys
consistently report this in comparison with girls. Over the three years of the

project our data show that it is the younger pupils in Year 4 who are the

21



43

largest percentage of pupils reporting often feeling hungry. At the start of the
project, the percentages of pupils reporting feeling hungry were substantially
higher; in 2005 55.0% of boys were reporting feeling hungry as were 45.6% of
girls. By 2007 these figures had dropped to 44.2% of boys and 37.8% of girls.

In response to ‘Do you feel hungry when you get to school?’ the highest
percentages of pupils reporting this are to be found in the younger pupils from
Year 4. Again a consistently larger percentage of boys report this in
comparison with girls, in 2005 36.8% of boys and 25.9% of girls reported this
but by 2007 the figures had changed to boys 24.7% and girls 18.2%.

In response to ‘Would you like more for dinner?’ the highest percentages of
pupils reporting this are to be found in the younger pupils in Year 4 where in
2005 56.3% of boys and 47.5% of girls reported this. By 2007 this had
changed to 46.0% of boys and 42% of girls.

In response to ‘Do you feel hungry before dinner?’ the data present the most
homogeneous response in that the there is little difference between the
percentages of boys and girls reporting this and equally little difference

between the responses of different year groups.

In response to ‘Do you feel hungry before going home?’ the data suggest that
larger percentages of younger pupils in Year 4 report feeling hungry before

going home and that more boys than girls also report this.

It is worth pointing out that with three of these items, ‘Do you often feel
hungry?’ ‘Do you feel hungry when you get to school?” and ‘Would you like
more for dinner?’ the responses from the ‘key group’ show a marked decline
in their responses to each item, year on year. Reporting ‘often feeling hungry’
has fallen from 54.6% in 2005 to 34.6% in 2007; ‘feeling hungry when getting
to school’ has fallen from 37.0% in 2005 to 15.8% in 2007 and ‘wanting more
for dinner’ has fallen from 54.3% in 2005 to 43.3% in 2007. All of these
indicate that the emphasis on foods and eating engendered through the Eat

Well, Do Well project has had some effect!

22



44

In our first interim report we recorded that feeling hungry was particularly
prevalent among boys and so we tracked the responses of boys from the ‘key
group’ across the three years of the project. Figure 4 presents the evidence

that there has been a change in their reporting on this issue.

Figure 4. Boys from the ‘key group’ reporting feeling hungry

boys reporting hunger

%
¥
0 25

& o
6 15 boys
19

G 1)

2005 2006 2007

year

Healthiness

Each year we asked pupils whether they tried to eat healthily and whether
thought they were healthy or not. In trying to eat more healthily, the trend is
upward over the three years from 30.9% reporting this in 2005 to 36.3%
reporting this in 2007. More girls report trying to eat healthily than do boys.
Interest in trying to eat healthily is reported in stronger terms by younger
pupils, among year 4s in 2005 this was 43.2% but had increased to 40.3% by
2007.

More girls than boys report thinking they are healthy and similarly, more girls

than boys thought that their school taught them about healthy eating.

23



45

Dental Issues

Closely associated with healthy eating are dental issues, as the former implies
a reduction in sugars and other substances which adversely affect teeth.
Over the three years of the project, there are a number of interesting and
important outcomes from this part of the survey, particularly in relation to their
reported visits to the dentist. Over the period 2005-2007, the percentage of
pupils reporting that they have not visited the dentist has more than doubled,
from 10.7% in 2005 to 23.4% in 2007. Correspondingly, those reporting going
once have increased from 16.9% in 2005 to 25.5% in 2007. In line with this
those reporting going twice reduced from 24.3% to 17.8% and a similar
reduction for those reporting going three times, down from 21.4% in 2005 to
13.2% in 2007. Pupils self reporting of treatments received are largely the
same with the exception of extractions which are down from 14.9% reporting
this in 2005 to 11.6% in 2007.

The results of the pupil survey reflecting the views of 17,776 pupils over the
three years of the project are impressive. We suggest that the findings show,
in a number of interesting ways, evidence of how pupils’ eating habits may
have been changed as a result of their participation in the ‘Eat Well Do Well’
project and the wider impact which the project has had in focusing attention

on healthy eating across the city.

Reducing Disadvantage

The measure of ‘eligibility’ for a free school dinner has led to potentially the
most interesting findings from the surveys. This is that by 2007, the
responses of eligible and non eligible pupils were not statistically different
across some 35 out of 41 measures of pupils eating habits (types of food
eaten for breakfast, during the last week, prevalence of takeaways, and
amount of fruit eaten on a daily basis). The number of aspects which show
statistically significant differences has declined over the three years of the

project as data in Table 4 show.

24



Table 4: Statistically significant differences between eligible and non eligible pupils on

41 items from the pupil survey

46

Item 2005 2006 2007
Hot meal 0.727 0.168 0.071
Cold meal 0.030 0.307 0.358
Snack 0.390 0.068

Went to bed hungry 0.223 0.027
Take Away 0.015 0.894
Nothing

Feel hungry when get to school 0.512 0.122 0.335
More for dinner 0.994 0.418 0.667
Often hungry 0.699 0.133
hungry before dinner 0.464 0.452
Hungry before going home 0.173 0.852
Try to eat healthily 0.240 0.252
School teaches healthy eating 0.116
Think you are healthy 0.552
Stay to dinners 0.053
In last week: take away 0.793
In last week: Vegs 0.078
In the last week: fresh Fruit 0.135 0.473 0.024
In the last week: Crisps 0.020 0.864
In the last week: Sweets 0.023 0.023

In the last week choc
Pieces of fruit per day
Breakfast at home
Breakfast at breakfast club

Ate something on the way to

school
No breakfast

0.293

0.114 0.730

0.283

For breakfast: Milk 0.061 0.970 0.921
For breakfast:Juice 0.474 0.969 0.222
For breakfast: Fizz 0.155 0.020

For breakfast:Cereal 0.926 0.411 0.214
For breakfast: Toast / bread 0.250 _ 0.077
For breakfast: Cooked breakfast 0.449 0.026 0.728
For breakfast: Fruit 0.499 0.121 0.029
For breakfast: Yoghurt 0.918 0.627 0.879
For breakfast: Crisps _ 0.024 0.246
For breakfast: Sweets 0.057 0.128 0.165
For breakfast: Biscuits 0.052 0.819 0.093
For breakfast: Tea 0.840 0.140 0.017

p< 0.01

Over the course of the project the number of items on which there were

significant differences has declined from 13 to 5.

In our view this reflects a much greater degree of homogeneity among pupils

in relation to what they eat and their perceptions of what it is to be healthy. If

25



47

‘eligible’ pupils need a free healthy school meal for nutritional reasons, then
equally, so do their non eligible counterparts. The corollary of this is that in
the current climate where there is national emphasis on healthy eating and
the concomitant dangers of obesity, the City Council in 2004 was forward
looking in its decision to implement a programme to provide a free healthy
school meal for every pupil. The free element should be justified on the
grounds that it greatly enhanced uptake of school meals in the city where

uptake doubled (bucking the national trend).

Given the size of the data set, the homogeneity of the responses is striking,
indicating that the disadvantage suffered by ‘eligible’ children in relation to
perceptions of health and health behaviours has reduced remarkably over the
3 years of Eat Well Do Well. Put another way, this suggests that if the notion
that certain pupils needed a ‘free school dinner and were classified as
‘eligible’ for this, then the data suggest that there are no discernible
differences between the groups. This is in terms of responses to a wide
range of items covering views about foods, school meals, breakfast
consumption, daily fruit consumption, perceptions of hunger and aspects of
self reported dental care. The argument could be made therefore that all
should receive a free healthy school dinner. Eat Well Do Well has had a
significant impact on reducing disadvantage across the city in relation to
children’s perceptions of health and more importantly healthy eating

behaviour.

Headline figures from the Pupil Questionnaire 2007

Total number of questionnaires returned: 6655

Percentage boys: 51.1
Percentage girls:  48.9

26



48

Table 1: Gender split and year groups

Year group Boys Girls

Year 4 50.0% 50.0%
Year 5 52.6% 47.4%
Year6 49.5% 50.5%

A key issue throughout the project has been the question of whether or not
the meals should be free. To that end the data have been analysed to
provide comparative percentages between responses from those pupils who
were eligible (in the old sense) and those who would not have been. For each
of the three years of the project the percentage of pupils whose parents have

claimed eligibility has declined (hardly surprising) as follows:

Table 2a: Total percentage of pupils claiming eligibility 2005-07

Year Percentage claiming eligibility
2005 22.5%
2006 15.8%
2007 15.3%

Table 2b: Gender of pupils claiming eligibility for free school meals, 2007

Gender Not Eligible Eligible
Boy 85.4% 14.6%
Girl 83.9% 16.1%
Total 84.7% 15.3%

For comparative purposes percentages are shown for those pupils who were
‘technically eligible’ for a free school meal and these are indicated in the

tables below in red.

The most striking aspect of the data set is that there is virtually no identifiable
difference between the percentages of responses by pupils who were eligible
and those who were not. The percentages indicate this in the tables below
and in addition, a Chi squared test (not shown below) was used on the actual

data to test for statistically significant differences between the outcomes for

27




49

both groups. Across the 61 items, significant differences can only be reported
in respect of two items, first ‘eating something on the way to school for
breakfast’ where larger percentages of ‘eligible’ children reported this and
second having ‘a fizzy drink for breakfast’ where again a larger percentage of

‘eligible’ pupils reported doing this (see table 5 below and section following).

Percentage of pupils reporting having eaten the school dinners

Yes 91.8% 95.0% No 6.5% 4.7%

If you have eaten them did you like them?

Yes 19.8% 19.4% No 13.6% 19.4%
Sometimes 66.2% 67.2%

What you usually do at dinner time?

Stay to school dinner 64.2% 74.7%
Packed lunch 31.7% 19.5%
Go home for dinner 3.4% 4.5%
Only have a drink 0.6% 1.3%

Do you want school dinners to be:

Free 70.3% 70.9%
Healthy 50.4% 48.8%
Neither 11.6% 11.3%
Don’t know 23.5% 23.4%

How do you feel after you have eaten the dinner?

Happy 26.5%
Energetic  21.6%
Hungry 14.9%

Tired 9.6%
Fidgety 5.8%
Full up 22.0%

28



50

If you don’t stay for school dinners why not?

Mum / Dad / Carer don’t want me to

Tried it and | didn't like it
Don’t have the foods I like
| just don’t want it

| get teased if | do

| prefer my pack up

Other

How much water did you drink yesterday?

None

One or two cups
3-5 cups

More than 5

16.0%
39.8%
26.7%
17.5%

Are you able to get a drink of water at school?

Yes 86.5%
No 2.5%
Not easily  10.9%

5.5%
19.9%
14.1%
6.9%
0.7%
43.4%
9.4%

19.6%
39.5%
23.2%
17.7%

4.6%
18.8%
22.8%
6.6%
0.5%
35.5%
11.2%

How many pieces of fruit and veg. do you usually eat on a school day?

None 7.2%
16.4%
20.7%
19.3%
12.8%
12.1%
4.7%
21%
4.6%

0o N OO b WODN -

5.7%
18.5%
20.5%
18.6%
12.9%
11.1%
3.3%
1.9%
7.5%

29



51

Table 3: In the last week how often did you eat....

ltem Every day Some days Never

Take away 2.3% 2.5% |64.2% 63.4% | 33.5% 34.0%
Vegetables 42.5% 39.8% | 47.9% 48.1% | 9.7% 12.1%
Fresh Fruit 61.5% 59.6% | 33.5% 36.9% | 5.0% 3.5%
Crisps 21.9% 20.9% | 63.3% 64.8% | 14.8% 14.2%
Sweets 16.2% 21.4% | 69.5% 65.1% | 14.3% 13.5%
Chocolate 22.4% 24.9% | 64.6% 62.4% | 13.0% 12.7%

Table 4: My last meal in the evening during last week was

Item Every day Some days Never

Hot meal 548%  57.5% | 42.4% 403% |2.8%  2.2%
Cold meal 5.8% 55% |53.4% 52.4% | 40.8% 42.1%
Snack 12.2%  14.9% | 44.4% 44.7% | 43.4% 40.4%
Went to bed hungry | 4.7% 6.5% | 14.9% 16.9% | 80.4% 76.6%
Take away 2.9% 3.0% |59.4% 60.1% | 37.7% 36.9%
Didn’t have anything | 6.4%%  8.0% | 10.4% 13.6% |83.2% 78.4%

Table 5: For breakfast last week | ...

ltem Every day Some days Never

Had breakfast at | 68.7% 66.0% |23.0% 16.3% |8.3% 9.0%

home

Had breakfast at | 12.2% 16.3% | 19.0% 20.2% |68.7% 63.5%

breakfast club

Ate something on | 3.8% 5.7% 28.1% 35.4% |68.2% 58.9%

the way to school

Didn’t have | 3.5% 3.3% 16.0% 17.9% | 80.5%  78.8%

breakfast

On the day of the survey, 236 pupils reported not having eaten breakfast.
The percentages of non eligible and eligible children reporting this were

almost identical.

30




52

The following items were consumed for breakfast on the morning of the

completion of the questionnaire by the following percentages of respondents:

Cereal 48.5% 47.8%
Toast / bread 38.2% 41.9%
Cooked breakfast 7.0% 6.8%
Fruit 18.9% 22.0%
Yoghurt 10.8% 10.2%
Sweets 4.9% 6.3%
Crisps 4.8% 5.4%
Biscuits 16.1% 18.3%
Tea or coffee 19.3% 23.3%
Milk 25.3% 25.8%
Water 19.9% 17.5%
Juice 25.0% 24.5%
Fizzy drink 7.9% 11.5%

Table 6: I’'m hungry .....

Yes No Don’t know

I'd like more for | 24.4% 26.3% | 61.1% 60.7% | 14.5% 13.1%

breakfast

I'm hungry when | 31.9% 31.1% | 58.0% 59.4% | 10.1% 9.5%
morning  lesson

starts

When | get to|21.1% 23.2% | 69.9% 68.0% | 9.0% 8.8%

school

I'd like more for | 43.4% 43.2% | 43.5% 45.2% | 13.1% 11.6%

dinner

I'm often hungry | 42.7% 44.8% | 42.7% 41.8% | 14.6% 13.4%

I'm hungry before | 73.3% 72.0% | 19.6% 21.2% | 71% 6.9%

dinner

I’'m hungry before | 52.5% 51.4% | 32.7% 36.3% | 14.3% 12.2%

going home

31




Table 7: How many times a day do you usually clean you teeth?

53

None 1.7% 1.2%
Once 15.8% 15.0%
Twice 63.1% 59.3%
Three times or more 19.0% 24.4%

Table 8: How many times have you been to the dentist this school year?

None 23.4% 24.7%
Once 27.4% 25.5%
Twice 17.0% 16.9%
Three times or more 12.4% 14.1%
Don’t know 19.9% 18.8%

Table 9: What treatment did the dentist give you on your last visit?

Check up 54.7% 52.3%
Teeth removed 11.8% 12.6%
Fillings 22.5% 24.7%
Braces 1.4% 1.2%
Don’t remember 9.2% 10.2%
Table 10: Generally do you think you are healthy?

Yes 69.8% 68.0%
No 8.0% 8.1%
Don’t know 22.1% 23.9%

Table 11: When you can choose what to eat, do you try to eat healthily?

A lot of the time 39.2% 35.4%
Some of the time 54.9% 57.9%
Never 6.0% 6.7%
Table 12: Does your school teach about healthy eating?

Yes 81.6% 82.8%
No 6.8% 7.5%
Don’t know 11.5% 9.8%

32




54

With any intervention, especially when it involves changing a culture, in
this case eating, changes are not normally seen overnight. That we have
been able to detect quite substantial changes over the three year period of
the project is clear evidence that prolonged exposure produces results and

that leadership in bringing about change is necessary.

The results show clear evidence of a decline in many ‘bad habits’, eating
on the way to school, not having any breakfast, not having an evening

meal and going to bed feeling hungry.

There are gender differences in the results which suggest that overall, girls
are more attuned to eating issues and that they adopt a healthier approach
to what they eat. Boys on the other hand, whilst not all bad, for example in
the reduction of reported hunger (see Fig 4 above), might benefit from
good male role models to encourage them further that healthy eating is

actually ‘cool’ and not to be shunned.

Our final observation resulting from these surveys is that, as we advised in
the early stages of the project, besides providing the healthy food for
eating, there needs to be a clear curricular message which is also

reinforced by example in the city’s schools.

33



95

Section 2
Nutritional Aspects of Eat Well Do Well

Introduction

The nutritional analysis provides information on the food served by schools in
EWDW as well as details of the food and nutrients actually consumed by
children both from the healthy hot dinners and packed lunches brought from
home, as well as monitoring full day food consumption of a small number of
children. In order for a school meal to be labelled as healthy it should be
nutritionally balanced over the week in compliance with the Caroline Walker

Trust nutritional guidelines.

This section of the report provides details of the nutritional content of the
healthy hot dinners served and consumed in 2006 compared to 2005.
Analysis has also being conducted to assess the nutritional content of packed
lunches consumed by children, and how this compared to the nutrients
obtained from hot dinner consumption. In addition, this section compares the
nutritional content of the hot lunches served in two different schools: one with
low eligibility and the other with high eligibility. This will detail how the food
served by the schools differed and how the nutritional content of the food
consumed compared. Finally, the daily total food consumption of those
children staying for hot dinners is compared with that for those children who

take a packed lunch to school.

Methodology

In order to assess the nutritional content of the food served recipes were
obtained for the week’s menu and were inputted into a nutritional analysis
package. Each day 10 portions of every food item available were weighed in
order to determine average portion sizes. As several options are available on
each day the food served was assessed as the most popular food choice

available each day.

34



56

Children’s actual food intake was assessed by determining average portion.
Children returned to the assessment station once they had finished their meal
and any waste was weighed and photographed. This allowed exact quantities
of the food actually consumed to be entered into a Weighted Intake Software
Analysis Package (WISP) which was used to assess the mean daily lunchtime
nutrient intake for each child and analysed to produce statistics on children’s

average lunchtime nutrient intake.

The position in 2006

Sample

The sample was comprised from willing children from years 5 or 6 who stayed
for hot dinners each school day. 32 children took part in 2005 and 37 children
in 2006.

Gender
2005 Female -41% Male - 59%
2006 Female - 74% Male - 26%
Year Group

2005 Year5—-100%

2006 Year5-53% Year 6 —47%

35



57

Table 4.0 Nutrients of food served in 2005 and 2006

Nutrients Recommended Food Served Food Served
2005 2006
Energy (kcal) > 557 581 659
Fat (g) <21.6 25.4 11.9
Saturated Fat | <6.8 7.2 3.8
(9)
Carbohydrate >74.2 71.5 106.1
(9)
NME Sugar (g) |<16.3 24.6 13.5
Fibre (g) >45 4.6 7.2
Protein (g) >8.5 20.3 38.3
Iron (mg) >3.5 2.6 3.9
Zinc (mg) >2.8 1.7 3.4
Calcium (mg) > 220 237 403
Vitamin A (ug) > 200 483 393
Vitamin C (mg) |>12 25 60
Folate (ng) >60 61 124
Sodium (mg) <600 849 556

Comparisons between the food served in 2006 to the food served in 2005
highlight improvements in the nutritional value of the food provided by the
schools. These improvements in the current 2006 menu have led to the
provision of increased amounts of carbohydrates, meaning the food provided
in the 2006 menu met the Caroline Walker Trust (CWT) recommended
guidelines. The balance of carbohydrate provided during analysis in 2006
had improved, resulting in the level of non-milk extrinsic sugar, which in 2005
was provided at more than 50% of the recommended maximum amount, and

in 2006 was at just over 80% of the recommended guideline.

The levels of fat and saturated fat have reduced by more than 50% leading to

an improvement with them both being provided within the recommended

36




58

guidelines. The 2006 menu provided increased levels of the micronutrients;
fibre, calcium zinc and folate, making it possible for children to consume these

nutrients at levels above the recommended minimum amounts.

The level of iron now provided by the 2006 menu has improved by over 15%,
and is now provided at above the recommended minimum amounts that

should be served at lunch.

The pictures below visibly detail the improvements in the menu. The provision
of fresh vegetables and availability of homemade bread made with half white
and half wholemeal flour help to provide an increase in the availability of

nutrients.

School Meals 2005

37



School Meals 2006

99

In 2005 children made comments that they did not like the vegetables, that

they were watery or had a ‘funny’ texture. Children making these comments

did not realise that the vegetables were frozen, but just made comments that

they did not like them and so choose not to eat them. These pictures were

picked at random and show how the menu has developed and although they

also demonstrate that children will often eat the foods they like and leave the

rest, they do show that the children are beginning to eat a more varied diet,

including some of the vegetables provided.

Table 4.1 details the nutritional content of the food actually consumed and

highlights improvements in food consumption

Table 4.1 A comparison of the nutritional values of the food actually consumed by
children in 2005 and 2006

Nutrient Recommended | Average intake Average intake
2005 2006

Energy (kcal) < 557 456 400

Fat (g) <216 20.6 8.1

Saturated Fat | <6.8 6 2.8

(9)

Carbohydrate >74.2 54.6 65

(9)

38




60

NME Sugars (g) | <16.3 19 12.7
Englyst Fibre | >4.5 2.6 3.2
(9)

Protein (g) >8.5 16.3 20.9
Iron (mg) >3.5 1.79 1.9
Zinc (mg) >2.8 1.34 1.8
Calcium (mg) > 220 221 291
Vitamin A (ug) > 200 254 350
Vitamin C (mg) |>12 10 37.6
Folate (pg) >60 35.3 61.5
Sodium (mg) <600 624 375

These results highlight that for many areas children are actually consuming an
improved diet at lunchtime. The intake of calories has reduced slightly,
however there has been an increase of food with higher nutritional values
leading to improved intakes of micronutrients. Interestingly, analysis
highlights statistically significant increases in the nutrients; zinc, calcium,
vitamin A, vitamin C and folate and a significant reduction in fat, saturated fat,

sugars and sodium.

However the intake of some of these micronutrients remain below the CWT
guidelines and analysis reveals that 49% of the 37 children taking part in the
2006 lunch study actually had intakes of the essential micronutrients; calcium,

iron zinc, folate that were below the guidelines.

In summary the quality of the food provided in 2006 had improved upon the
2005 menu, providing fresh vegetables rather than frozen, homemade bread,
increased availability of fresh fruit with fruit juice or milk as accompanying
drinks rather than squash. The nutritional content of the food served in 2006
had improved for every nutrient assessed and meets the recommended

guidelines for all but one nutrient. The only nutrient which was lower than the

39




61

guidelines was iron, which had improved by 15% on last year’s analysis and

was just 11% short of the recommended amount.

The actually food consumed by the children had improved to provide more
essential micronutrients, however for many nutrients remain below the
recommended minimum of what children should be obtaining from their

school lunch.

Nutritional comparisons between high and low eligibility schools
The evaluation team also conducted a nutritional analysis of the food
consumed in a more affluent school (<10% free school meal eligibility) and a

less affluent school (>47% free school meal eligibility).

Sample

The sample was comprised from willing children from years 5 or 6 who stayed
for hot dinners each school day. 37 children in the affluent school took part
and 39 in the less affluent school. In the less affluent school year 4 children

were also included for analysis to ensure enough participant numbers for

analysis.
Gender
Affluent Female - 74% Male - 26%
Less affluent Female - 41% Male - 59%
Year Group
Affluent Year 5 -53% Year 6 —47%
Less affluent Year 4 - 41% Year5—-23% Year 6 —36%

40



62

The menu during this period consisted of:

Monday: Spicy Beef with rice and a pitta bread, carrots, broccoli, sugar free

jam, scone and apple juice.

Tuesday: Roast turkey with stuffing, boiled potatoes, green beans and

carrots, tomato and herb bread, fruit cocktail and glass of milk

Wednesday: Jacket potato with tuna, cauliflower and cabbage, tomato and

herb bread, semolina and glass of water

Thursday: Lemon chicken, tomato pasta, broccoli, cauliflower, bread, yoghurt

and a glass of orange juice

Friday: Haddock in breadcrumbs, boiled potatoes, peas, sweetcorn, bread,

fruit mousse and crumble topping and a glass of apple juice.

Table 4.2 Food served in both schools

Nutrients Recommended | Affluent Less affluent
Energy (kcal) > 557 659 746
Fat (g) <216 11.9 13.3
Saturated Fat (g) | <6.8 3.8 4.4
Carbohydrate (g) | >74.2 106.1 125.6
NME Sugar (g) <16.3 13.5 29.5
Fibre (g) >45 7.2 6.5
Protein (g) >8.5 38.3 38.9
Iron (mg) >3.5 3.9 3.7
Zinc (mg) >2.8 3.4 3.6
Calcium (mg) > 220 403 631
Vitamin A (ug) > 200 393 255
Vitamin C (mg) >12 60 82
Folate (ng) > 60 124 138
Sodium (mg) <600 556 580

41




63

These results show that the food offered in both the affluent and less affluent
school assessed met the Caroline Walker Trust (CWT) recommended

guidelines for the majority of nutrients assessed.

The schools offered the same menu, although some differences in serving
sizes was apparent, the biggest difference being with drinks and bread. A
glass of juice in the affluent school averaged 75g whereas a glass of juice in
the less affluent school was anywhere between 116g — 150g, twice that of the
affluent school. The less affluent school also offered larger chunks of bread
and larger scones, resulting in nutritional differences between the

carbohydrate and non-milk extrinsic sugar levels served.

Example of a meal in the affluent school

Example of a meal in the less affluent school

42



64

Table 4.3 Average nutrients consumed

Nutrients Recommended | Affluent Less affluent
Average intake Average intake

Energy (kcal) > 557 400 373

Fat (g) <216 8.1 7.4
Saturated Fat (g) | <6.8 2.8 2.8
Carbohydrate (g) | >74.2 65 58.9

NME Sugar (g) <16.3 12.7 8.3

Fibre (g) >45 3.2 2.7

Protein (g) >8.5 20.9 211

Iron (mg) >3.5 1.9 1.5

Zinc (mg) >2.8 1.8 1.7

Calcium (mg) > 220 291 297

Vitamin C (mg) >12 37.6 38.9

Folate (ng) > 60 61.5 63.7

Sodium (mg) <600 375 335

There are several differences in the actual food consumed by the children. It
was expected that children in the less affluent school would consume more of
the school lunch provided, as this may be their only substantial meal of the
day. However, as the table highlights, children in the less affluent school are
consuming less food and with that obtaining less energy and less nutrients
than children in the more affluent school. It is of concern that in both schools
children are not consuming amounts which meet the Caroline Walker Trust
(CWT) guidelines for several nutrients. Analysis revealed a statistically
significant difference in the consumption of iron between the two schools, with
children in the less affluent school obtaining less of this nutrient at lunch.
There is evidence to suggest that a low intake of iron can suppress learning

and hamper academic achievement.

One major difference noted between the two schools was that the affluent

school served vegetables and potatoes to all children whereas the less

43




65

affluent school only maintained that children must take a main protein source
and could refuse the potatoes and vegetables if they wished. Although the
provision of vegetables and potatoes to all children produces increased

waste, it seems also to encourage children to eat a little of these items.

Minimum amounts consumed at lunch
Analysis was conducted to assess the minimum amounts that were consumed
by children at lunchtime. Again surprisingly the less affluent school children

faired worse than the children from the more affluent school.

Table 4.4 Minimum nutrients consumed

Nutrients Recommended | Affluent Less affluent
Minimum Minimum

Energy (kcal) > 557 163 119

Fat (g) <216 0.5 1.7

Saturated Fat (g) | <6.8 0.1 0.3

Carbohydrate (g) | >74.2 321 16.1

Sugar (g) <16.3 0.0 0.0

Fibre (g) >4.5 1.2 0.4

Protein (g) >8.5 6.1 8.5

Iron (mg) >3.5 0.8 0.5

Zinc (mg) >2.8 0.7 0.5

Calcium (mg) > 220 147 62

Vitamin C (mg) >12 5 8

Folate (ng) > 60 17 19

Sodium (mg) <600 99 50

There were several children in the study who ate very little at lunch. They
may have a scoop of their jacket potato and their dessert. This results in some
children consuming very little food, in turn, delivering very little in nutritional

significance to their overall diet.

44




66

The same menu was assessed in both schools. Differences were apparent in
the methods of service that the schools used, resulting in differences in the
nutritional content of the food when assessed. Larger portions of certain
foods, such as scones and fruit juice, in the less affluent school resulted in
increased levels of carbohydrates and non-milk extrinsic sugars being
available in this school. Children in the two schools chose to consume
different variations of the menu available, resulting in differences between the
average nutrient intake. One of the principle differences between the schools
was that in the affluent school children had to have main course, potatoes and
the vegetables on their plate, whereas in the less affluent school children had
to select a main course and the rest was optional. Children in the more
affluent school did consume on average slightly more micronutrients than
children at the less affluent school and the requirement of vegetables and

potato provision plays a role in this.

Hot dinners and packed lunches
The evaluation team were also interested in comparing the nutritional values

of hot dinners and packed lunches:

Sample
The sample was comprised from willing children from years 5 or 6 who stayed
for hot dinners or packed lunch each school day. 37 hot dinner and 38

packed lunch children participated

Gender

Hot dinners Female - 74% Male - 26%
Packed lunch Female - 40% Male - 60%
Year Group

Hot dinners Year 5 -53% Year 6 —47%
Packed lunch Year 5 -53% Year 6 —47%

45



67

These pictures demonstrate some typical packed lunches

46



68

Table 4.5 The average nutrients consumed from hot dinners in comparison to packed

lunches

Nutrient Recommended | Average intake Average intake
Hot Dinners Packed Lunch

Energy (kcal) < 557 400 707

Fat (g) <21.7 8.1 28.9

Saturated Fat (g) | <6.8 2.8 11.7

Carbohydrate (g) | >74.3 65 98.9

NME Sugars (g) <16.3 12.7 32.1

Englyst Fibre (g) |>4.5 3.2 3.7

Protein (g) >8.5 20.9 19

Iron (mg) >3.5 1.9 2.6

Zinc (mg) >2.8 1.8 2.0

Calcium (mg) >193 291 318

Vitamin A (ug) >150 350 112

Vitamin C (mg) >11 37.6 35.5

Folate (ng) > 60 61.5 56

Sodium (mg) <600 375 1010

Analysis highlights that children choosing to bring a packed lunch actually
consume an increased quantity of food at lunch and with this they are
obtaining the energy required for lunch. However, they are still not obtaining
essential micronutrients and are actually consuming less of many

micronutrients and a great excess of sugar, fat, saturated fat and sodium.

When analysing these results for statistical significance, it was found that
packed lunch children consumed significantly more calories, fat, saturated fat,
sugar and sodium and significantly less folate, vitamin C and B vitamins.
Interestingly, children having a packed lunch consumed significantly more iron

- this is due to sheer quantity of food consumed.

The average calorie content of a packed lunch is 125% of the recommended

guidelines for lunch, this along with saturated fat levels that are nearly twice

47




69

the recommended maximum may begin to contribute towards an excess in

children’s overall energy intake which may ultimately result in weight gain.

The types of food consumed at lunchtime in a packed lunch do not require
children to learn how to use knives and forks. Teachers have commented on
increases in children who have a lack of table manners and an inability to hold
cutlery correctly. The daily provision of crisps, sweets and snack foods leads
children to believe these are everyday foods rather than occasional foods

which should act as treats within a healthy balanced diet.

Overall, children choosing to have a packed lunch were obtaining more
calories, but with this more fat, saturated fat, sodium and sugar. Children
staying for hot school dinners were obtaining less calories but a more

balanced meal providing significantly more micronutrients.

The position in 2007

The evaluation team also examined total food intake for a small number of
children in two schools in the city. The evaluation aimed to ascertain if there
was a relationship between lunch time food intake and food consumed at
other times of the day. This was the first analysis undertaken comparing
children provided with free, healthy school dinners in Hull with those who have

a packed lunch.

It was assumed that children having a free healthy school dinner would
consume a more nutritious meal than children who consumed a packed lunch.
It was also assumed that children from a school with low eligibility for free
school meals would consume a more nutritious diet than children who were
from a school with a low eligibility. In order to test these assumptions,
children who stayed for packed lunches and hot dinners in two schools in Hull
were recruited to take part in the study. The number of pupils on roll and free

school meal eligibility were used to select the two suitable schools.

48



70

Hot school dinners

Analysis of the food provided highlighted that in school B (the school with high
eligibility - 47%) two nutrients, non-milk extrinsic sugar (NMES) and iron, were
provided outside of the recommended guidelines. NMES was provided at
4.9g more than school A (the schools with low eligibility — 9.8%) and 2.1g
more than the 16.3g maximum recommended at lunch. Iron was provided at
0.2mg below the recommended guidelines of 3.5mg. However, the remaining
nutrients assessed in school B met the CWT recommended guidelines and all

food provided by school A conformed to the guidelines.

Analysis showed children’s mean daily intakes of energy, fat, saturated fat,
NMES and sodium, were all within the guidelines. However, carbohydrates,
fibre, iron, zinc and vitamin A intakes were all below the minimum amounts
recommended. The reason for the low nutritional intake was due to children
eating small amounts of the food they were provided with. Vegetables and

potatoes were often wasted, children simply ate the food they liked.

It may be concluded that the school meals in the present study were meeting

the recommendations to reduce children’s intakes of fat, sugar and sodium.

The menu provided in the study schools allowed children a choice of meal
options each day. The findings highlight that, despite the meals being
nutritionally balanced, options were provided which allowed the children to

choose a similar dish over a number of days which could lead to large

49



71

variations in nutrient intakes, which over a prolonged period of time could lead
to nutritional deficiencies. Individual children’s nutritional intake from school

meals varied greatly, ranging from 692 calories to as little as 119 calories.

This study highlighted that at lunchtime the children’s nutritional intakes did

not meet the recommended amounts for fibre, iron, zinc and vitamin A.

Packed lunches

The first important factor about packed lunches is that the types of foods
provided by a packed lunch generally do not require children to learn how to
use knives and forks. tTachers have commented on the increased number of
children who have a lack of table manners and inability to hold cutlery
correctly and we reported this in our second interim findings. Children having
a school dinner could therefore benefit from peer modelling through teacher
and peers in the social situation of eating with a knife and fork and sitting
around a dinner table. The daily provision of crisps, sweets and snack foods
in a packed lunch leads children to believe these are everyday foods rather
than occasional foods which should act as treats within a healthy balanced
diet. An independent T test carried out in the present analysis, found that
those children who had a packed lunch obtained far higher intakes of energy,
fat, saturated fat, sugar and sodium than the children who had a hot school

dinner.

It was evident that packed lunch children, despite the increased food intake,

were still consuming low levels of many of the micronutrients assessed.

50



72

Fibre, iron, zinc, vitamin A and folate intakes were all below the recommended
minimum amounts; however, with the exception of folate, these nutrients were
consumed in higher amounts by the children in the packed lunch groups than

the children from the hot dinner groups.

In the present study an independent T test highlighted statistical differences
between some of the micronutrients assessed, with children having a packed
lunch consuming significantly more iron and vitamin C in school A and in
school B more fibre, iron and vitamin A. The low micronutrient intake in
children having hot dinners is due to their low consumption of the food
provided, this is a significant finding as the introduction of free healthy school

meals was intended to help improve children’s nutritional intake.

Individual children’s intakes revealed that the children with both the highest
and lowest energy intakes were children having packed lunch or hot dinners
in school B, highlighting that children from this school had poorer lunch time
intakes than those from school A. When individual children’s micronutrient
intakes were assessed, it was found that the packed lunch children had a
higher intake than the hot dinner children and the children with the lowest
intakes were children who stayed for hot school dinner in school B. This is a
significant finding if these children may not be able, through poor food

provision in the home, to make up for this low nutrient intake.

The results clearly show that food intakes in both groups of children did not

meet the CWT lunch time recommended guidelines and although children

51



73

consuming a free healthy school meal had low intakes of fat, sugar and
sodium they also had low intakes of the micronutrients assessed and these
micronutrient intakes were actually lower in the children staying for hot school

dinners than the children having a packed lunch.

Food Diaries

The food diaries provided an insight into children’s total food and nutrient
intakes and an understanding of the foods and nutrients consumed at different
meal times. The meal time analysis allowed comparisons to be made
between the different groups of children taking part in the study. Overall, the
results showed that the school children came from had a greater impact on
the total nutrient intake than whether children were from the hot dinner or
packed lunch groups. This may be due to the socio-economic backgrounds

that children come from.

At breakfast time children in school A obtained more energy and nutrients
than children in school B. Despite both schools offering a breakfast club,
breakfast skipping occurred on various occasions in school B. The research
suggests that children, especially those who are at nutritional risk, who skip
breakfast suffer from increased errors and slower memory recall in tests. In
the current study, one child from school B did not consume breakfast on four

out of the five days assessed.

The lunch time analysis of the food diaries presented similar results as the

larger initial lunch time assessments conducted earlier in the evaluation. The

52



74

packed lunch children consumed more than the CWT recommended
maximums for energy, fat, saturated fat and sugar, consuming more than the
hot dinner children. None of the groups of children from the hot dinner or
packed lunch groups met the requirements for all the micronutrients
assessed, with children from the hot dinner groups having intakes which were

even lower than the children in the packed lunch group.

The large difference in nutrient intake observed at lunch time began to
balance out through the consumption of afternoon snacks: the hot dinner
children tended to consume crisps, biscuits and chocolate, but the packed
lunch children either did not have an afternoon snack, or consumed less of

these high fat, high sugar and sodium foods.

The evening meal analysis went on to highlight that all groups of children
consumed more than the recommended maximum amounts of calories,
saturated fat, NMES and sodium, but with this they increased their intakes of
fibre, iron, zinc, calcium, vitamin A and C and folate. Children from school A
obtained higher average intakes of the micronutrients assessed than the
children from school B. Evening meals in school A generally were made from
raw ingredients, consisting generally of meat, potatoes and vegetables,
whereas evening meals in school B had a heavy reliance on convenience

foods, which were not served with vegetables.

The final meal at supper time resulted in the children from the hot dinner

groups obtaining far more calories, fat, saturated fat, sugars and sodium than

53



75

the children from the packed lunch groups. This, along with the afternoon
snack, reduced the overall dietary differences between total daily nutrient
intakes in the hot dinner and packed lunch children. Popular supper time
foods in hot dinner children from school A were chocolate and biscuits and the
hot dinner children from school B often consumed pizza or chips. Therefore,
when the full day’s nutritional intake was assessed, the large and significant
differences in nutrients intakes between hot dinner and packed lunch children

had diminished.

Assessments of overall mean daily intakes highlighted that the hot dinner
group in school A actually ended up consuming more energy, fat, saturated
fat, sugar and sodium than the children in the packed lunch group, and more
than the recommended amounts, despite their low lunch time intake of these
nutrients. The consumption of high fat, sugar and sodium snacks after school
and at supper time led to this result. Children from school A consumed more

energy and macro and micro nutrients than those children in school B.

Assessments of mean daily micronutrient intakes highlighted that children
from school A met more of the recommended guidelines than children from
school B. The hot dinner group in school A were low on fibre and the packed
lunch group low on fibre and zinc. In school B the hot dinner children had the
lowest overall micronutrient intakes, being low in fibre, iron, zinc, calcium and
vitamin A and the packed lunch children were low on fibre, iron, zinc and

vitamin A.

54



76

The deficiency in fibre intakes began at breakfast, where popular choices
consisted of high sugar/ low fibre cereals. There was a general low
consumption of fruits and vegetables. This is found in most dietary analysis
and therefore came as no surprise to the evaluation team. Although it was
hoped that Hull's provision of free school fruit and the healthy school dinners
would help to address this issue, the study found that the highest intake of
fruits and vegetables recorded was 18 portions over the five day study period,
which remained below the 25 portions which the department of health 5 a day
programme recommends. The results also highlighted that during the five day
study period one packed lunch boy from school B consumed no fruits or
vegetables at all and, again in school B, there was a boy who stayed for hot
school dinners who did not consume any vegetables and only consumed one
piece of fruit in the five days assessed. Findings from the current study
suggest that the lowest intakes of fruits and vegetables came from children in
school B. The highest fruit and vegetable intake came from the children who
stayed for hot school dinners in school A. The Department of Health and local
authority investment in the free school fruit and vegetable scheme and in the
free school meal provision through the EWDW initiative needs to be carefully
considered when these findings still highlight that there were children not

consuming fruits or vegetables during this study.

The low energy and micronutrient intakes in those children from school B
suggests that these children may be at nutritional risk. The low intakes may
be having a detrimental effect on the cognitive development of these children

and their future academic attainment.

55



77

Overall the food diaries revealed that even though some of the study children
were consuming healthy hot school dinners, which resulted in a low fat, sugar
and sodium intake at lunch, children would then go on to consume foods
which contained higher amounts of fats, sugars and sodium at other meal
times. This is a significant finding which needs to be carefully considered and
investigated further to ascertain why this may be so. Meetings with some
parents, undertaken as part of the evaluation of the Eat Well Do Well initiative
suggested that parents believed one of two things. First, that parents believed
that if their child stayed for free school dinners they would have already
consumed a healthy balanced lunch and therefore they do not have to ‘worry’
so much about the nutritional balance of the evening meal. The difference
seen between afternoon snacks and supper consumption between children in
the hot dinner and packed lunch groups, may be a result of the increased
hunger in those children who had hot school dinner or it may be due to
parents allowing children these treat foods as they have not had them as part
of their lunch. Second, and as we state elsewhere in this report, parents don’t
actually know what their children eat if they stay for school dinners. The
evaluation team believes there needs to be considerable investment in the
collaboration between schools and families if we are to see an improvement in

children’s overall nutrient intakes.

During the data collection for this report one child, who was not included in the

overall analysis, from the packed lunches assessed from school B had

mouldy sandwiches on two of the five days assessed, which he therefore did

56



78

not eat. The sandwiches were simply bread and margarine placed in his
rucksack, unwrapped, this boy had very little food and on these days only
consumed crisps and a chocolate bar. The availability of free school meals
makes it difficult to understand why he did not stay for school dinners instead
of bringing a packed lunch. This perhaps suggests that more needs to be
done to promote free school meals to families (we are conscious that uptake
is an unreliable measure). Schools and the local authority need to work with

parents to encourage school meal uptake.

This study highlighted that during the study period no child consumed any oily
fish, which provides essential fatty acids (EFAs) which cannot be synthesised
by the body and therefore must be provided by the diet. Again, this finding
was not surprising. Oily fish was provided by the school dinner menu as
salmon fishcakes, however children chose to avoid this option for the more
appealing option of roast turkey or jacket potato with coleslaw which was also
served on the same day. More needs to be done to encourage children to eat
oily fish, and this needs to start from an early age. This could be done
through school meals, by making the fish option the more attractive option of
the day and through educating children in the importance of oily fish and
maybe having a fish supplier visit the school to enthuse children in this area.
At a push the Council might even consider oil supplements. Parents also
need to be educated in the importance of EFAs and perhaps the school could

offer culinary sessions for families to attend.

57



79

This research would suggest that although undoubtedly free universal free
school meals reduces the stigma attached to those children classed as
eligible for free school meals, it may not help these or other children to reach
their daily recommended nutrient intakes. The results of the present study
suggest that more needs to be done to improve the diets of children both in

school and at home.

58



80

Section 3

Readiness to Learn Class Teacher Questionnaire

“Three of the primary schools visited reported that the skills of younger pupils
were poorly developed: they could not manage a knife and fork or make
conversation during a meal. In the best instances, schools recognised the
contribution that a good dining experience could make. In these cases,
teaching staff often ate in the dining room with the pupils and the atmosphere
was warm and friendly, with sufficient time for all to eat their lunch comfortably
and to enjoy socialising.”

Food in Schools - Ofsted - October 2007

Introduction

The class teacher questionnaire provides data for the attainment strand of the
Free Healthy School Meals (FHSM) Evaluation project. The aim of the
attainment strand is to assess the impact that the universal provision of free
healthy school meals has upon children’s levels of educational achievement.
A fundamental determinant of children’s academic attainment is what has
been termed, pupils’ ‘readiness to learn’. Education professionals have long
recognised that when pupils arrive at school late, tired, hungry, or ill equipped
to cope with the school day, their ability to engage with the learning process is

adversely affected.

The concept of readiness to learn reflects those issues which underpin
children’s educational attainment but are not immediately apparent through
analysis of test results, such as KS1 and KS2 scores. These factors include
children’s ability to concentrate, communicate and co-operate in addition to
more practical concerns such as lesson preparedness, attendance and
punctuality. The class teacher questionnaire was developed as a tool to
enable researchers to begin to ‘measure’ teachers’ perceptions of their pupils’

readiness to learn.

One of the methodological challenges posed by the use of the “readiness to

learn” framework was the lack of pre FHSM intervention data. In order to

59



81

provide a comparison between children’s behaviour and academic
performance prior to and after the introduction of the programme, teaching
staff were given the opportunity to comment upon changes that they felt were
directly attributable to the programme. The questionnaire also enabled
comparisons to be made between those children eating school dinners and
those eating packed lunches or going home for dinner. Additionally, the
guestionnaire sought to provide baseline data to enable perceived changes to
be monitored over the course of the programme. In summary, the

questionnaire aims to provide the following;

e Assessment of teachers’ and teaching assistants’ perception of the
impact of the scheme through pre-intervention comparison

e Comparison between teachers’ and teaching assistants’ perception of
those children who eat FHSM and those who do not

e Baseline data from which to monitor subsequent changes in children’s

readiness to learn

This report outlines results for the 2007 survey and all figures quoted refer to
the 2007 dataset. Figures given in brackets refer to the 2005 and 2006 survey
and significant aspects of trend data are commented upon in the text. E.g.
The number of years spent teaching ranged from less than a year to 38
(36) years. The average number of years spent teaching was 11.10

(11.43) years with a median of 8 (7) years.

Methodology

The survey was carried out in schools in February 2007. Surveys were
distributed to the schools along with instruction sheets on how to complete the
questionnaires. The completed questionnaires were collected from the
schools by University researchers, two weeks later. The sample size was
ascertained using data from the LEA. The number of teachers and teaching
assistants was confirmed with all the primary schools in the LEA. However,

because of unpredictable shifts in the employment of teaching staff, the split

60



82

of year groups in some schools and the assignment of teaching assistants to
pupils across different year groups, an exact sample size was difficult to
determine. Therefore, in order to ensure that adequate numbers of
questionnaires were distributed, the sample size was over-estimated.
Consequently, it is not possible to ascertain an exact response rate but it is
estimated that approximately 600 questionnaires were distributed and 224
were returned, giving a 38% response rate. This is a slight decrease from last
year when 259 questionnaires were returned with an estimated 43% response

rate.

The questionnaire was distributed to 72 schools in July 2006, 59 schools
responded. In 2006, 65 schools completed the questionnaire. Class teachers
and teaching assistants from years 4, 5 and 6 were asked to complete the
questionnaires. Envelopes were provided to maintain respondents’ anonymity.
Completed questionnaires were collected from the schools between 2 and 3

weeks after distribution.

Completed questionnaires were analysed using SPSS and Atlas.ti software.

Amendments to the Survey

The 2007 survey consisted of a number of additional questions. These
questions were included to enable researchers to explore aspects of the
school dining environment and its related effects upon pupils’ behaviour.
Further questions invited teachers to consider the ways in which the scheme
had influenced their perception of Hull City Council. Although lack of trend
data makes comparative analysis impossible, it was considered important to
collect these data in view of the council's need to consider the cost

effectiveness of the scheme.

Key findings

The 2007 data shows that children have more energy and are less tired as a
result of the free school lunches. While respondents acknowledge that
children’s levels of tiredness and irritability increases through the course of

the day, this appears to be levelling out as the effects of the scheme become

61



83

evident. Fewer respondents reported children being tired and irritable after
lunch and more reported greater levels of alertness, energy and eagerness to
work after the lunch period. There has been a very significant increase in
respondents stating that children have more energy and are less tired. This is
also true of those children attending the breakfast clubs, who increasingly
show greater alertness and levels of concentration which they sustain

throughout the morning period.

Qualitative data indicates that respondents regard the scheme primarily as a
health scheme for children. However, when asked about the effects of the
scheme, respondents pointed to a much broader picture. Many spoke of the
social benefits, the educational benefits, the removal of stigma and the
support to parents and families. Those that were more ambivalent about the
scheme were keen to stress the competing financial demands on the Council.
This may be understandable due to the well publicised budget deficit at the
time of the survey. However, these respondents also stressed the idea of
parental responsibility and suggested that the feeding of children should not
be the taxpayers’ responsibility. Interestingly, there were some respondents
who supported the removal of the free element of the scheme who also

regarded the scheme as successful.

Opinions as to the benefits of the scheme appeared to be less ambivalent in
many areas, particularly in comparing the readiness to learn of children
staying school dinners, packed lunches and going home. While the proportion
of those stating that children staying school dinners are more ready to learn
has increased, the proportion stating that there is no difference has also
increased. Qualitative comments are illuminating in this respect, as
respondents comment that it becomes increasingly difficult to ascertain
differences between children as the majority now stay for school lunches in

many classes.

It would appear that very few respondents require convincing of the health
benefits of the scheme, although some express concern over the financial

cost.

62



84

Key Statistics

The majority of respondents were in favour of the scheme 80% (89% -
2006, 85% - 2005)

The 2007 data shows that the proportion of respondents eating the
school dinners had stabilised over the last year. 41% stated that they eat
the school dinners in 2007 and 2006 compared with 28% in 2005

Self reported knowledge of children’s lunch choice was high at 90%. This
was the same in 2006 (91% in 2005)

The majority of respondents in 2007 had noticed a difference in their
pupils since the introduction of the scheme. This was the first year that
this happened with 42% of respondents stating that they had seen no
differences as opposed to 56% in 2006 and 55% in 2005

42% of respondents felt that children had more energy and 31% felt that
children were less tired. These figures were 22% and 18% in 2006 and
16% and 20% in 2005

A very low percentage of respondents felt that the scheme was not a
good idea. Only 4% stated that they didn’t think the scheme was a good
idea

39% of respondents ate their dinner in the staffroom, 22% in the
classroom and 20% in the dining room

Teachers were more likely to eat in the dining room with the children
than teaching assistants

Respondents who ate in the dining room were more likely to support the
scheme. 91% of those that ate in the dining room supported the scheme,
79% of those that ate in the staffroom or the classroom supported the
scheme

47% of respondents were opposed to the reintroduction of charges, 28%
supported charging for the meals and 24% did not know

56% of respondents stated that since the introduction of the scheme,
they had more trust in the Council to make the right decisions for

children’s health and to make children a priority.

63



85

11% of respondents had more trust in the Council to manage finances,
while 26% trusted the Council less to manage finances since the
introduction of the scheme

Respondents felt that children had learnt more about healthy eating
since the scheme was introduced (86%) and more about the social
aspects of dining (67%)

Respondents did not feel that there had been any increase in bullying
since the introduction of the scheme. 72% no increase, 25% don’t know,
3% an increase

27% of respondents felt that there were fewer behavioural problems over
the lunchtime period as a result of the scheme

71% of staff felt that there was less stigma attached to children on free
school meals than before

The proportion of respondents reporting a difference in the behaviour of
those children attending breakfast clubs rose from 27% in 2005 and
2006 to 39% in 2007

Sample

The majority of the sample was comprised of female teachers of years 5 or 6
classes.

Gender

2005 Female —76% Male -24%

2006 Female - 82% Male — 18%

2007 Female - 84% Male - 16%

Job title

2005 Teacher —86% Teaching assistant — 14%
2006 Teacher—78% Teaching assistant — 22%
2007 Teacher - 72% Teaching assistant - 28%

Number of years spent teaching ranged from less than a year to 40 years

(2005 - 36, 2006 - 38) years. The average number of years spent teaching

64



86

was 9.99 (2005 - 11.43, 2006 - 11.10) years with a median of 7 years (2005 -
7 years, 2006 - 8 years)

Year Group

Respondents were asked which year group they worked with. Some gave
more than one response to this question, for example years 3 and 4. Possible
explanations for this include split classes or teaching assistants who work with
a number of pupils. Consequently data were analysed separately and

therefore percentages total more than 100.

Table 1

Year Group % cases
Year 3 14

Year 4 35

Year 5 40

Year 6 42
Schools

59 of the 72 schools returned questionnaires giving an 82% response rate. In
2005, 45 schools responded giving a 58% response rate and in 2006, 65

schools out of 77 responded giving an 84% response rate.

Respondents’ Consumption of Meals

41% of teachers and teaching assistants surveyed ate the meals and 58% did
not. Results demonstrate that the proportion of teachers and teaching
assistants eating the meals has remained constant over the past year. In

2005 only 28% of respondents reported eating the meals and 71% did not.

Choice of Dining Environment

20% of teachers and teaching assistants reported that in general they ate
lunch in the dining room. The most popular location was the staff room, where
39% of respondents said they generally ate their dinner. 22% of teaching staff
ate their lunch in the classroom while 7% stated that they went home for

lunch.

65




87

Dining Location and Job Title

Results demonstrate that there is a strong relationship between respondents’
job and their choice of dining environment. Teaching assistants were much
more likely to eat in the staff room or to go home for lunch. 47% of teaching
assistants chose to eat in the staff room, compared with 36% of teachers.
27% of teaching assistants went home for lunch compared with 1% of
teachers. Only 13% of teaching assistants ate in the dining room compared

with 22% of teachers and 5% ate in the classroom compared with 29% of

teachers.
Respondents' Dining Location
60 - H Overall
B Teachers
OTeaching
assistants
23
121113
7
1 "
Dining room Staff room Class room Home Other

Figure 1

These data demonstrate that different areas of the school are used by
teachers and teaching assistants. Possible reasons for this are that many
teaching assistants work part time and therefore have greater opportunity to
eat lunch at home. Teachers on the other hand are more likely to work for the
whole day and to use the lunch break as an opportunity to prepare for
afternoon classes. This would tend to be done within the classroom. However,
teaching assistants who remain in school over the lunchtime period prefer to
eat their lunch in the staff room 47%, rather than the dining room 13%, or the
classroom 5%. This preference was much less marked among teachers

where 36% ate in the staffroom, 29% in the classroom and 22% in the dining

66



88

room. It is likely then, that teaching assistants regard the classroom as the
domain of the teacher and the staffroom as a more appropriate space for
them to eat lunch. Reasons why the dining room is not used by teaching
assistants to the same extent as teachers remains unclear and should be
further investigated using qualitative methods. Interestingly, one respondent
commented that her dining location was dependent on whether she had paid
for the meal or not. If she had not paid she was required to eat in the dining
room, if she did pay she could choose to eat in the classroom. Some
respondents also mentioned the need for space away from children as a

motivating factor in their choice of dining environment.

I do occasionally, for example Christmas dinner. But it’s nice to have some adult
company at lunchtime. Plus, the staffroom is far more peaceful!- Teacher, yr 5

However, respondents who ate in the dining room with the children did so in
order to monitor behaviour, to ensure that children ate the meals and model

healthy and appropriate eating behaviours and to socialise with the children.

“Will occasionally go into the hall to eat with pupils. Reason- monitor behaviour
and talk to pupils out of classroom context”. Teacher yrs 3/4

I have lunch with pupils once a week to encourage the children to have a free
healthy school meal. Also good manners at the table”. Teaching assistant yrs %

The meals are excellent quality and with vigilant staff we can ensure that children
- that otherwise wouldn’t eat healthily- manage to eat at least 3 of their ‘5 A
DAY’! Teacher yrs 5/6

I eat with the children and help the younger children cut up their food. Teacher
yr5

Dining location and school meals consumption

There was also a strong correlation between eating the school meals and
choice of dining environment. Of those respondents that stated that they ate
the free school meals, 47% did so in the dining room, 30% did so in the staff
room and 10% in the classroom. Respondents who stated that they did not

eat the meals were more likely to eat in the staff room, 46% or the classroom

67



89

31%. None of the respondents who did not eat the meals ate in the dining
room. This indicates that the decision to eat in the dining room with children is

dependent on the availability of a free healthy school meal.

Dining location and support for the scheme

In analysing the relationship between dining environment and support for the
scheme, caution should be exercised in interpreting these data as the sample
of non-supporters is very small (34). However, those respondents who ate in
the dining room were more likely to support the scheme than those who ate in
the classroom or the staff room. Of those that ate in the dining room, 91%
supported the scheme. Of those that ate in the classroom or the staffroom,

79% supported the scheme.

The table below compares the dining locations of respondents who support
the scheme with those that do not support the scheme. This table shows that
the dining room is the second most popular place to eat lunch among
supporters of the scheme, while it is the fourth choice of non-supporters along
with home. Please note, figures are rounded to the nearest whole percentage

and therefore figures in the total row may be +/- 100%.

Table 2
Do you think the meals are a good idea?
Dining location | Yes % No % Overall %
Dining room 22 9 19
Staff room 41 35 39
Class room 20 29 22
Home 7 9 7
Other 11 18 12
Total 101% 100% 99%

Respondents Not Eating the Meals
58% of respondents did not eat the free school meals. Reasons given for not

eating the meals included the cost of the meals. Some teachers were still

68




90

unaware that they were entitled to a free school meal if they supervised
children and many felt that the charges were too high for teachers. Teaching
staff felt that £2, £2.10, £2.32, £2.38 was too much to pay for a midday meal.
This has been the case throughout the scheme. In other cases, teachers
relinquish their entittement because they would have to perform supervisory

duties in order to receive the meal.

The meals are not free to the adults. If we stay, we have to pay £2.32 and the
meals aren’t always worth it. Teaching assistant yr 5

We are not offered free school meals unless we work a dinner duty. Teaching
assistant year 6

We were instructed we were not allowed anymore. Teacher yr 5

Some respondents felt that the food was unpleasant or simply not to their
taste However, these type of comments were far less frequent than in
previous years. This could indicate an improvement in the quality of the food.
Others had special diets, including low calorie, diabetic and vegan. These
were not felt to be adequately catered for by the school meals. Time was also
a significant factor in deterring respondents from eating the meals. Many
teachers prepared for afternoon lessons and teaching assistants often went
home for lunch due to the cost and having to balance domestic
responsibilities. Teachers and teaching assistants states that they often did

not have a break over lunchtime

I have certain dietary requirements and cannot eat a large amount at lunchtime.
Also, I don’t have time to eat a lot. Teacher yr 4

Sometimes I don’t get time for a lunch break. Teaching assistant yr4
Time - not enough to sit down for lunch with children each day. Teacher yr 4

I am a carer for my parents and I go to check on them over lunch. Teaching
assistant yrs 3/4

I do not have time to eat a school meal. I eat my lunch (fruit) while working.
Teacher yr 5/6

Due to allergies, I bring my own dinner. Teacher yr 4




91

Respondents Eating the Meals
The reasons that respondents gave for eating the school meals included the

meals themselves (enjoyable, healthy and free),

I have always eaten school meals. I have found them satisfying, cheap and
nutritious. I enjoy sharing lunchtime with pupils and they benefit from being with
an adult. Teacher yr 6

They are nutritious, varied and tasty. They maintain my energy throughout the
day. I do not need a cooked meal in the evening. Teacher yr 5

However, other reasons included wanting to teach children how to eat with a
knife and fork and how to behave in the dining room. This is particularly
interesting in light of the recent Ofsted report which stated that children in
some primary schools were unable to use cutlery (Polly Curtis, Guardian,
3/10/07). Many felt that modelling appropriate eating behaviour was an
important element of their role and spoke of the importance of showing

children that they ate the meals and being seen to eat healthily.

To interact with pupils in a social context. And to have a warm jacket spud for
lunch. Teacher yr 5

I think it is good to eat with the children as it shows them we all eat the same
foods. Teacher yr5

I encourage the children to eat and teach them how to use cutlery. Teacher yr 3/4

Because I feel it is important to show the children that the food tastes great and
also how to eat it properly. Teacher yr 3/4

I like to socialise with children at mealtimes, encouraging them to eat well and
with good table manners. Teacher yr 4

It is clear that the experience of dining with pupils is one of the factors
determining respondents’ lunchtime choice. While some teachers and
teaching assistants preferred time away from children and the peace and
quiet of the staffroom, others valued the social experience of dining with the

children. This was consistent with previous years’ responses. However,

70



92

qualitative data does show a marked decrease in the proportion of teaching
staff wishing to ‘escape’ from children over the lunchtime period. It appears
that teaching staff tend not eat with children because of time constraints and
work commitments. Very few stated that they did not wish to eat with the
children. Those that did valued the chance to socialise out of the classroom
context and felt it provided an opportunity to reinforce healthy eating practices
and to teach social skills and table manners. A minority of respondents (2)
expressed some resentment at the free school meals being offered on the

basis of eating with the children.

Knowledge of Children’s Lunch Choice

The vast majority of respondents knew which children ate the school dinners.
91% stated that they knew which children stayed for school dinners and this
figure was 90% in both 2005 and 2006, 7% (2006 - 7%, 2005 - 8%) did not
know which children ate the free school dinners and 2% (2006 - 3%, 2005 -
1%) did not know whether they knew who ate the free school dinners.
Significantly, respondents commented that they also knew exactly which
items were eaten and in what proportion, by particular members of their class.

This was due to eating lunch in the dining room with their class.

Response to Scheme

Support for the Free Healthy School Meal Programme peaked in 2006 with
89% agreeing that the scheme was a good idea overall. This figure increased
from 85% in 2005 and decreased to 80% in 2007. Nevertheless, this figure
still demonstrates a high level of support for the scheme among teaching staff
across the city. In 2007, the proportion of respondents who either did not think
the scheme was a good idea or did not know, increased from 9% to 16% in
the former case and 2% to 4% in the second case. In previous surveys
support for the scheme was shown to be highest among those teaching staff
that ate the school meals themselves. In 2007 support for the scheme
remained higher among among school dinner eaters (87%) than non dinner
eaters (80%). However, the proportion of school dinner eaters supporting the
scheme in 2005 and 2006 was around 94%.

71



93

There was no significant difference between the proportion of teachers and

teaching assistants that supported the scheme.

Is the scheme a good idea?

In light of the impending decision over the re-introduction of school meals
charges, opinions over the scheme were much less ambivalent than previous
years. Support for the scheme far outweighed opposition and it is worth noting
that respondents’ support for the scheme did not always correlate with their
reporting of the benefits of the scheme. One of the reasons for this was that
respondents opposing the scheme did so on financial grounds and on the
basis that the meals undermined parental responsibility. Consequently, they
were able to state that they had seen health and educational benefits of the
scheme, but wished to see more targeted provision. Similarly, a minority of
supporters of the scheme expressed children’s right to receive a decent meal
and therefore were still able to state that they had seen no differences in

children’s behaviour or readiness to learn.

Opposition to the Scheme

Comments from respondents who did not feel that the scheme was a good
idea were exclusively concerned with the free element of the scheme and fell
into two themes. The first was the cost of the scheme. This included
comments around the better direction of resources into education more
generally and one particularly fervent respondent's comments about the
Council’s closure of Newland Avenue school. The feeling was that monies
could have been better spent elsewhere, particularly in education. The second
included comments about parental responsibility. This included comments
around the lack of parental responsibility and the perceived penalisation of
taxpayers in having to pay for children whose parents were able to cover the
cost of school meals themselves. Here there was confusion between central
and local government policy with some respondents expressing views

reflecting a belief that extended schools for example, was a local council

policy.

72



94

To enable money to be spent elsewhere. Teacher yr 5/6

Parents are given allowances for their children - they should pay for lunches.
Why should I pay for other people’s children from my tax? Teaching assistant,
all years

I believe parents should have ultimate responsibility for feeding their children.
This is a basic requirement of being a parent. The government are taking this
fundamental responsibility away from parents, which is wrong - the tax payer
should not have to pay for other people’s children to eat! Yet another addition to
the disintegration of the family unit. Teacher yr 6

Waste of money - if have kids - should feed them!! We are breeding a generation
of parents who have no responsibility/knowledge of food. Free fruit, free
dinners, free after school stuff, free breakfasts - it must end!! Teacher yr 6

Support for the Scheme

In general, those respondents who felt that the scheme had been a good idea

expressed a wider variety of reasons for holding this opinion. Reasons related

to health benefits, educational benefits and the welfare of children.

Respondents felt that the scheme had encouraged children to stay for hot

dinners rather than consume packed lunches containing crisps and chocolate.

Some respondents felt that the scheme had enabled more children

increase their consumption of fruit and vegetables.

to

More children stay school lunch which ensures they get a balanced meal, unlike
some of their packed lunches which are often full of sugar and carbohydrates.
Teacher yrs 5/6

It encourages children to eat a school meal which is balanced and nutritious.
Many of our children would otherwise bring a packed lunch containing poor
quality, unbalanced food. Teacher yr 6

Children are more alert and ready to learn. Teacher yr 6

Children seem to be more alert and responsive against when children’s parents
had to pay for a meal. Teaching assistant yrs 3/4

Children are provided with a balanced meal. Many of these pupils belong to out
of school clubs e.g. gymnastics, music, swimming and teatime is rushed.
Therefore eating a main meal at lunch time is vital for them. Teacher yr 6

73



95

In previous years, respondents have tended to focus on the health benefits of
the scheme and have noted that the free school meal at lunchtime is the only
hot, nutritious meal that many children have throughout the day. Respondents
this year also reiterated concerns that many children were not eating healthily
at home and some were not eating at all. Often these comments
accompanied other concerns around disadvantage, low income and
deprivation. However, while the 2007 data set still included this type of
comment, analysis revealed that teachers from more affluent schools were
also concerned about children from poor families and the poor quality of
packed lunches. For the first year, respondents have used this area of the
survey to comment independently about the effect the scheme has had on
children’s readiness to learn. This may indicate that respondents are just

beginning to see the effects of the scheme upon education.

School Meals Charges

In the 2007 survey, teaching staff were asked to indicate whether they would
support the reintroduction of charges for school meals. 47% were opposed to
implementing charges for school meals and 24% did not know. 28% of
teaching staff therefore felt that it was appropriate to charge for the meals.
One of the factors that influenced this opinion was consumption of school
meals, with non meal eaters being more likely to support the re-introduction of
charges than those who ate the school meals. The table below shows

respondents’ support for the reintroduction of charges according to their meal

consumption.
Table 3
Do you eat the meals?
Do you support charges for | Yes No

school meals?

Yes 24 31
No 47 47
Don’t know 28 22

74




96

These data show that eating the meals appears to make respondents more
likely to demonstrate ambivalence to charges. The same proportion of dinner

eaters and non dinner eaters were opposed to the reintroduction of charges.

Teaching assistants were more likely to support the introduction of charges
than teachers, with 32% of teaching assistants stating charges should be

reapplied and 27% of teachers.

Opposition to charges

Respondents were concerned that the reintroduction of charges would mean
a drop in school meal take up. This would mean an increase in cheaper and
less healthy packed lunches. Some mentioned the difficulty for parents in
choosing between the cheaper price of a packed lunch and the healthiness of
a school lunch. Respondents noted frequently that the cost of a school lunch
would be prohibitive for families with more than one child. A small number of
respondents mentioned the administrative “nightmare” associated with

collecting money for school lunches.

The reintroduction of stigma attached to free school meals was also
mentioned by a number of respondents and this is discussed later in this

report.

There appeared to be an acknowledgement by some respondents that some
children lived in families with chaotic lifestyles, whose parents were not good
at filling in forms or where children had to look after themselves. Concerns
were expressed that these children would miss out if charges were

reintroduced.

Pupils have the right to decent food as children are our future. Malnutrition leads to
problems later in life - medical problems which are very costly. Teacher yr 4
right from then on, whether this is financially viable or not. Teacher yr 6

Because if we are to take education seriously, we need to ensure that we are giving our
children every possibility to learn. Teacher yr 3/4

Because I think that some children will be undernourished, even malnourished. Quite a
few children are responsible for themselves. Teacher yr 4

How can you? If you make it a child’s right, and they benefit from it, they maintain that

75



97

Support for charges

Support for the reintroduction of charges was expressed in terms of parental
responsibility and the perception of the Council’s spending priorities. Many
respondents supported the reintroduction of charges, providing that the
money raised was spent in schools, for example on curriculum materials,
resources and additional staff.

Many respondents felt that children who needed a free school meal already

received one under the old system.

As a community charge payer with no children, why should I pay! Council
would be better to put money into schools instead of closing them down.
Teacher yr 6

Children who were entitled to a free school meal received one anyway.
Although, I would like to know where the money goes if the scheme is stopped.
Teaching assistant, yr 5

There are too many children whose parents can afford meals having them free.
Teacher yr 3/4

Support for the scheme and response to the reintroduction of charges

Respondents were asked whether they thought the scheme was a good idea
and also whether they would support the reintroduction of charges. While it
would appear self evident that there is a relationship between opposition to
the scheme and the support for the reintroduction of charges, this relationship
is not entirely straightforward. Those respondents who opposed charging for
school meals all thought that the scheme had been a good idea. Those
respondents who did not think the scheme was a good idea nearly all

supported charging for the meals (97%).

However, some respondents (15%) who stated that the scheme was a good
idea also thought that charges should be reintroduced. These responses were
analysed in detail to determine the reasons for this apparent contradiction. It
appeared that there were three themes within respondents’ qualitative
statements; first, that they supported the healthy but not the free element of

the scheme; second, that they were happy to support the reintroduction of

76



98

charges under given circumstances, namely that charges would not be
prohibitive, or that free school meal entitlement could be extended to reach
more children and finally, that the Council was in financial difficulty and that
revenue had to be raised from somewhere. There were one or two
respondents who had misunderstood the question, as their qualitative
statements made it clear that they did not support the reintroduction of

charges.

Only if other services will suffer if this does not happen. Teacher yr 5/6
Problems with the LA’s budget. Teacher yr 6

Because they are not that expensive and if it continues to improve because the
council are receiving money....... Teacher yr 4

Views of the Council

The 2007 survey asked teaching staff to comment upon how the scheme had
affected their views of the City Council. The questions were formulated with
respect to literature on social capital and aimed to assess whether the
scheme had any influence over teachers’ levels of civic engagement and

trust.

Data shows that the introduction of the scheme has increased teachers’ trust
in the Council to make the right choices for children’s health and to make
children a priority. 50% of respondents felt that they now had more trust in the
council in terms of putting children first and 56% had more trust in the Council
to make the right decisions for children’s health. Only 5% stated they had less
trust in the Council with respect to making children a priority and 4% with
respect to children’s health. Overall the scheme appears to have increased
trust in the Council over a number of areas, the notable exception being
budget management. While 11% stated that they trusted the Council to
manage finances more than before, 26% stated that they trusted the Council

to manage finances less than before. 63% stated that the scheme had not

77



99

affected their level of trust in the Council’s ability to manage finances. The

table below summarises results.

Table 4

Since the introduction of the free healthy school meals scheme I trust the council to ...

More  than | Less than | About the
before before same
% % %
Make the right choices for children’s health 56 4 40
Make the right choices for children’s education 26 8 65
Put the interests of Hull people first 24 12 63
Listen to the views of Hull people 25 13 61
Solve problems in innovative ways 19 10 70
Manage finances 11 26 63
Make children a priority 50 5 45

Respondents who ate the school meals themselves were no more or less
likely to have changed their perception of the Council than those who did not
eat the meals, the notable exception being in relation to making children a
priority. Of those respondents that ate the meals, 55% stated that since the
introduction of the scheme they have more trust in the Council to make
children a priority. This figure was 46% among those that did not eat the

school dinners.

Impact of the Scheme

For the first time, the 2007 survey asked teaching staff to comment on some
of the social aspects of school dining, including the dining environment, pupil
behaviour at lunchtime and the extent to which children and adults, (teachers,

school staff and parents) are able to mix during lunchtime.

A very high proportion of respondents reported that children had learnt more
about healthier eating and about the social aspects of eating since the
introduction of the scheme. 86% agreed or strongly agreed that children know
more about healthier eating and 67% agreed or strongly agreed that children

know more about the social aspects of eating. With the increased volume of

78




100

children staying for school lunch in the dining room, concerns were expressed
early on in the scheme that this shouldn’t lead to an increase in bullying or
behaviour problems over the lunch period. Only 3% of teachers felt that there
was more bullying as a result of the scheme, with 72% stating that there was
no increase in bullying. 25% did not know. In fact, 27% of teaching staff felt
that there were less behavioural problems at lunchtime as a result of the
scheme, 42% did not feel that there were less behaviour problems and 30%

did not know.

Teaching staff also indicated that the scheme had provided greater
opportunities for interaction between pupils and staff, with 53% stating that
children and teachers mix more now and 42% stating that the dining room is
now a more pleasant place to be. However, the scheme does not appear to
have encouraged a greater degree of parental involvement, as only 7% of
teachers felt that the scheme had resulted in more parents being around at
lunchtime. Only 8% of teachers felt that lunchtime had become more stressful

as a result of the scheme.

Stigma

The 2007 data set included spontaneous comments around the stigmatisation
of school meals. It is likely that the prospect of the removal of the free element
of the scheme motivated some respondents to consider this aspect. For
example, when asked if they thought the scheme was a good idea and why,
several respondents mentioned the removal of stigma for those children who

were previously eligible for free school meals.

Children receive a balanced diet and disadvantaged parents do not have to think
about what to pack up. Other children enjoy the meals and there is no stigma of
who is free at registration. Teacher yr 5/6

Children who were on free meals are less stigmatised. Teaching assistant yr 3/4

Furthermore, some respondents felt that the reintroduction of charges would

reintroduce the stigma of claiming free meals. When asked whether they

79



101

would support the charges and why, some respondents pointed to the

negative effects of charges on less affluent children

So that there is no discrimination between children ‘I’ve got more than you ‘cos
I’'m paying’. Teaching assistant yr 3/4

The take up rate would drop considerably and reintroduce the ‘stigma’ attached
to ordering a ‘free’ meal based on means tested methods. Teacher yr 4

Later on in the survey, respondents were asked to agree or disagree with a
series of statements about the impact of the scheme. One of these
statements specifically referred to children who were previously entitled to a
free school meal. 71% of teaching staff felt that these children were less

stigmatised as a result of the scheme.

Children’s behaviour

Respondents were asked whether they had noticed any differences in specific
aspects of children’s behaviour since the introduction of the scheme. In
previous years the majority of respondents stated that they had noticed no
differences in children’s behaviour. However, in 2007 the maijority of
respondents had noticed a difference in children’s behaviour. Respondents
were able to indicate more than one area in which they had noticed a
difference and therefore percentages do not add up to 100. The most
common response was that children were seen to have more energy 42%.
This figure rose from 16% in 2005 and 22% in 2006. A significantly higher

proportion of respondents had noticed that children were less tired

Table 5

2007 % 2006 % 2005 %
| have noticed no differences 42 56 55
Children have more energy 42 22 16
Children are less tired 31 18 20

80




102

Children have longer attention span | 25 12 18
There are fewer absences 9 11 6
Children are more relaxed 18 11

Children are more punctual in the | 12 10 10
morning

Children are better behaved 17 6 10
Pupil performance has improved 13 5 7
Quality of work has improved 13 4

Children have better memory 12 3 6

These figures show a dramatic increase in teaching staff noticing differences
in all areas of children’s behaviour and academic performance, particularly in
relation to children’s energy levels and tiredness. There was a slight decrease
in the proportion of teachers reporting fewer absences. However, it must be
noted that effect of the scheme is likely to be cumulative, therefore in order for
a decrease in absences to be recognised by respondents, the rate of absence

needs to decrease year on year. This is also the case with punctuality.

Teachers who eat the meals

Previous years’ data showed that teachers who ate the meals themselves
were slightly more likely to notice differences in children’s behaviour and
performance. This is also the case in the 2007 dataset. However, in 2007
there were significantly fewer respondents who ate the meals that reported
seeing no differences and significantly more respondents who ate the meals
that reported children having more energy. This is true when compared with

the sample as a whole.

Table 6

2007% 2006 % 2005%
| have noticed no | 36 46 39
differences
Children have more | 57 28 24
energy

81




103

Children are less tired 35 26 27
Children have longer | 26 12 27
attention span

Children are  better | 22 12 12
behaved

Children are  more | 21 15 2
relaxed

Quality of work has | 18 4 10
improved

Pupil performance has | 15 4 7
improved

There are fewer | 14 15 5
absences

Children are  more | 13 10 17
punctual in the morning

Children have better | 10 6 10
memory

Comparisons between FHSM children and others

The majority of teachers felt that there was no difference in the behaviour of
children eating the free school meals and those who do not. Only 14% felt
they had seen a difference and 67% felt there was no difference. 18% did not
know. However, while this figure remains relatively low, there has been an
increase in the proportion of teaching staff who have seen a difference in
behaviour. In 2005, 73% stated there was no observable difference in FHSM
children’s behaviour and in 2006 this figure was 77%. It must be noted that
many respondents who stated that they had observed no differences between
those children who stayed for school dinners and those who had pack up or
went home for lunch indicated that this was because most of the children in
their class now stayed for school dinners. Consequently, it was difficult to

make a comparison.

Those that noticed a difference mentioned energy levels, settling down and

attentiveness during the afternoon session. Most of these comments

82




104

suggested that packed lunch children were less attentive than school lunch
children. However, one comment indicated that children who go home for
lunch appeared more settled in the afternoon than those who stayed at
school. No distinction was made between those that stayed school dinners

and those that stayed packed lunch in this instance.

In the afternoon, pack up pupils often have shorter attention spans. Teacher yr 5

I can see differences with a few children whose packed lunches need to be
monitored....hyper. Teacher yr 4

Chocolate, crisps, sugary drinks can show a decline in behaviour. Most children
who stay for the healthy option seem more content and ready to work. Teaching
assistant yr 3/4/5

Children seem to be better behaved and are more settled after lunchtime.
Teaching assistant yr 4/5

Children who stay dinners are less hyperactive than those who eat packed
lunches. Teacher yr 4

Generally, children who eat a packed lunch are more likely to be inattentive and
silly in the afternoon. Teacher yr6

Some don’t appear to be hungry during afternoon lessons and pay more attention
to lessons. Teaching assistant yr 6

2 boys who are pack up are badly behaved most days. 1 boy who is dinners is
only badly behaved occasionally. Teacher yr 5

Comparison between breakfast club children and others

Respondents were asked to indicate whether they had notice a difference
between those children who attended breakfast club and those who did not in
relation to their behaviour and levels of concentration. On this question,
respondents were given the opportunity to indicate if the question was not
applicable, for example if the school did not have a breakfast club, or if the
children in the respondent’s class did not attend. These figures were removed
from the analysis so that only applicable responses were included. The

following tables indicate responses.

&3



105

Table 7

Is there a difference in the behaviour of those children attending breakfast clubs

Frequency Valid Percent
Valid Yes 75 39
No 75 39
Don't Know 42 22
Total 192 100.0

The table above demonstrates that a high level of respondents felt that they
had observed a difference in the behaviour of children who attended breakfast
clubs. However, the same proportion did not notice a difference.
Nevertheless, this represents a significant increase on the 2005 and 2006
data where 27% of applicable respondents stated that they had seen a

difference in behaviour among those children attending breakfast clubs.

Table 8

Is there a difference in the concentration of those children attending breakfast clubs

Frequency Valid Percent
Valid Yes 55 29
No 80 42
Don't Know 56 29
Total 191 100.0

The table above shows that fewer respondents noticed a difference in levels
of concentration between breakfast club attendees and non attendees. There
is also a less marked increase between the 2007 data and that of previous
years. In 2005 and 2006 the proportion of respondents noticing a difference in

levels of concentration was 24%.

These data indicate that differences are detected in relation to overall
behaviour and fewer respondents detect differences specifically in relation to
concentration. It must be noted that although there was no assumption that
these differences would be positive, all comments except for two concerned

improvements to levels of concentration and behaviour. As with previous

84




106

years, these differences were felt mainly to relate to punctuality, alertness and

being quicker to settle. Below are a range of indicative comments.

Children who would normally be wilting at 11.15 can carry on working and
being co-operative until lunchtime. Teacher yr 4

They come to school on time! One girl’s reading has particularly improved.
Teacher yr 5

These children appear to be able to concentrate better during the first morning
sessions. Teacher yr 5/6

They are less tired and arrive into class in a happy settled mood. Teacher yr 4

Those attending breakfast club tend to come in more ready to work and settle
down. Teacher yr 5

They settle more quickly and don’t complain of being hungry. Teacher yr 4
Fewer children complaining about being hungry. Less likely to be lethargic

during the morning. One pupil in particular who does not attend breakfast club
frequently complains about being hungry. Teacher yr 5

Readiness to Learn

The concept of readiness to learn encompasses the following areas;
Concentration

Co-operation

Communication

Achievement

Self esteem

Health

Respondents were asked a range of questions designed to identify
perceptible changes in children’s behaviour in relation to the above headings
and to establish baselines to enable future changes in behaviour to be

monitored.

Respondents were also asked to indicate what time of day they felt children in

their class were most likely to be able to concentrate, communicate, co-

85



107

operate, etc. This allows us to build a picture of the school day, to suggest
possible associations with free healthy school meals and to assess any
changes over time. This question was a multiple response question, meaning
that respondents were able to indicate, for example, that children are most
alert in the periods before and after morning break. Furthermore, the
questions were not limited to the 6 areas listed above, but incorporated some
of the factors that contribute to children’s readiness to learn. Table 9 below

illustrates respondents’ perceptions of children’s abilities throughout the day.

Table 9
Arrival | Before | After After | Last
at morning | morning | lunch | period
school | break break
Children in the class are most tired 20 7 7 8 69
Children are most eager to work 33 61 30 15 1
Children are most alert 30 57 31 14 -
Children are most calm/relaxed 32 46 21 16 7
Children are most energetic 19 24 35 43 9
Children are most irritable 7 6 13 32 53
Children are most able to concentrate 31 66 36 12 -
Children are most able to communicate 30 60 36 21 6
Children are most co-operative 36 64 38 23 8

Results show that teachers and teaching assistants continue to feel that
children get more tired and irritable throughout the day, reaching a peak
towards the end of the day. Energy levels appear to curve throughout the day,
reaching their highest point immediately before and after lunch break.
Children appear to take some time to settle down into the school day, as
eagerness to work, alerthess and calmness are highest during the period
before morning break. The periods immediately prior to and following morning
break appear to be the most productive since children are felt to be most able

to concentrate, communicate and co-operate effectively during this time.
After Lunch

The table below provides a picture of children’s lunchtime behaviour over the

course of the project. The table shows that there has been an increase in the

86




108

proportion of respondents who report that children are eager to work, alert,
energetic, able to concentrate and communicate, and cooperate. There has
been a decrease in the proportion of respondents who report that children are
tired and the proportion of respondents reporting that children are calm and
relaxed over lunchtime has remained roughly the same. Children’s levels of
irritability over the lunchtime period appear to have peaked during 2006 and
fallen back to around the 2005 level in 2007.

Table 10

2005 2006 2007
Children in the class are most tired 13 13 8
Children are most eager to work 7 8 15
Children are most alert 8 8 14
Children are most calm/relaxed 12 15 16
Children are most energetic 25 40 43
Children are most irritable 28 46 32
Children are most able to concentrate 5 8 12
Children are most able to communicate 13 14 21
Children are most co-operative 12 14 23
Concentration

14% (10% - 2006, 12% - 2005) of teachers agreed that FHSM children had
better concentration than packed lunch children, 34% (29% - 2006, 28% -
2005) disagreed and 51% (62% - 2006, 60% - 2005) neither agreed nor

disagreed.

17% (12% - 2006, 15% - 2005) agreed that FHSM children have better
concentration than those who go home for lunch, 30% (31% - 2006, 25% -
2005) disagreed and 52% (57% - 2006, 60% - 2005)) neither agreed not

disagreed.
53% (57% - 2006, 50% - 2005) thought that lunch choice did not affect

concentration 23% (30% - 2006, 32% - 2005) neither agreed nor disagreed
and 25% (13% - 2006, 18% - 2005) thought that it did.

87




109

Co-operation

9% (6% - 2006, 7% - 2005) of teachers agreed that FHSM children were
better able to co-operate than children eating packed lunches. 53% (62% -
2006, 60% - 2005) neither agreed nor disagreed and 38% (32% - 2006, 33% -
2005) disagreed.

11% (9% - 2006, 11% - 2005) agreed that FHSM children were better able to
co-operate than children going home for lunch. 52% (58% - 2006, 56% -
2005) neither agreed nor disagreed and 38% (34% - 2006, 34% - 2005)

disagreed.

56% (57% - 2006, 59% - 2005) of teachers considered that lunch choice did
not affect levels of co-operation. 13% (8% - 2006, 12% - 2005) agreed that it
did and 31% (35% - 2006, 30% - 2005) neither agreed not disagreed.

Communication

6% (7% - 2006, 4% - 2005) of teachers agreed that FHSM children had better
communication than packed lunch children, 42% (33% - 2006, 38% - 2005)
disagreed and 60% (59%) neither agreed nor disagreed.

9% (6% - 2006, 7% - 2005) agreed that FHSM children have better
communication than those who go home for lunch, 40% (34% - 2006, 35% -
2005) disagreed and 52% (60% - 2006, 59% - 2005) neither agreed nor

disagreed.

56% (56% - 2006, 63% - 2005) thought that lunch choice did not affect
communication 31% (35% - 2006, 29% - 2005) neither agreed nor disagreed
and 13% (9% - 2006, 8% - 2005) thought that it did.

Achievement

7% (6% - 2006, 6% - 2005) of teachers agreed that FHSM children had better
levels of achievement than packed lunch children, 44% (39% - 2006, 43% -
2005) disagreed and 49% (56% - 2006, 51% - 2005) neither agreed nor

disagreed.

88



110

7% (3% - 2006, 5% - 2005) agreed that FHSM children have better levels of
achievement than those who go home for lunch, 42% (41% - 2006, 40% -
2005) disagreed and 49% (56% - 2006, 55% - 2005) neither agreed nor

disagreed.

57% (59% - 2006, 61% - 2005) thought that lunch choice did not affect levels
of achievement 29% (31% - 2006, 32% - 2005) neither agreed nor disagreed
and 14% (9% - 2006, 7% - 2005) thought that it did.

Self Esteem

7% (4% - 2006, 5% - 2005) of teachers agreed that FHSM children had
greater self esteem than packed lunch children, 41% (38% - 2006, 40% -
2005) disagreed and 52% (58% - 2006, 55% - 2005) neither agreed nor

disagreed.

8% (5% - 2006, 6% - 2005) agreed that FHSM children have greater self
esteem than those who go home for lunch, 42% (38% - 2006, 37% - 2005)
disagreed and 50% (57% - 2006, 57% - 2005) neither agreed nor disagreed.

57% (62% - 2006, 62% - 2005) thought that lunch choice did not affect self
esteem 30% (32% - 2006, 32% - 2005) neither agreed nor disagreed and
13% (7% - 2006, 6% - 2005) thought that it did.

Readiness to Learn - Trend Data

The following results demonstrate trends in children’s readiness to learn. The
bases for the charts are not shown, as the bases have varied from year to
year and the data is not intended to be comparative across questions. Data

shows very small fluctuations in the responses to particular statements.

89



Attendance

100 -
90 ~
80 -
70 A
60 -
50 A
40 -
30 -
20 A
10 -

%

0 A

Figure 2

111

Attendance

93 94
85 85 86
m ﬂ

Children arrive on time

Concentration

100 -
90 A
80 A
70 A
60
50 A
40 -
30 A
20 A
10 A

%

85 84

80

Figure 3

Children can
concentrate for
10mins+

Attendance is good

Levels of concentration

Children are
sleepy in class

72 70 66

Children settle
down to work

|

Children are
easily distracted

| 2005
W 2006
2007

W2005
W2006
02007

90



112

Co-operation
Levels of co-operation

100 -
904 82 81 79 80 79 78 80 80 78
80 A 70 72 72
70 -
60 -
50 A
40 -
30 -
20 -
10 -

0 4

Y%

Children co- Children are Children work Children share
operate with sensitive to the well together equipment
each other needs of others

Figure 4

Communication

Levels of communication

100 - 90

90 A 83 81
80 -
70 -
60 -
50 -
40 -
30 -
20 A
10 -

69 72 71

%

1

Children Children Children listen to Children respect
communicate communicate instructions the views of
with each other with staff others

Figure 5

B2005
W 2006
02007

W2005
W2006
02007

91



113

Achievement
Levels of achievement

100 -
90 -
80 4 75 74 70

70 1

60 60 62 62 59
57 o8 57 B2005

W 2006
02007

60 -
50 -
40 -

Y%

30 A
20 -
10 A
0 -

Children achieve Children produce Children produce Children
at an appropriate imaginative work  original work remember
level instructions

Figure 6

Self Esteem

Levels of self esteem

100 - 97 97 oy

90 A
80 -
70 1

88 88 g5

B2005
W 2006
02007

60 -
50 -
40 -

%

30 A
20 -
10 A
0 -

-
Children feel Children learn Children are Children value
good about better with high  proud to be part academic
themselves self esteem of the school achievement

Figure 7

92



114

Section 4

Examples of good practice
Throughout the three years of the evaluation we came across many examples

of good practice. We would like to share some of these in this report.

Longhill
Longhill Primary School caters for children between the ages of 4 -11 years.
There is a nursery attached to the school which looks after children under the

age of 4 years. There are currently 224 children at the school

Longhill school commenced with free and healthy school meals provision in
April 2004. Prior to the start of the scheme free school meals entitlement
stood at 31.7%. This is significantly higher than the national average of 21%

but in line with the Local Authority average of 32%.

The school lacks its own kitchen and school meals are brought in from a
neighbouring school (Spring Cottage). The take up of the free healthy school
meals in this school has been very slightly below the average for the local

authority. Take up figures for the school are shown below in Table 1.

Table 11
Longhill LEA average
Year 1 50% 52%
Year 2 62.3% 63.2%
Year 3 61.5% 64%

Longhill school has shown particularly innovative practice in 2 regards: First
the display of the menu and children’s involvement and second, the golden

spoon award.

93




115

Menu display and children’s involvement

Longhill dining room occupies a very small physical space and although it is
not a dual purpose hall, i.e. used for assembly, PE and drama, the size of the
space means it is a challenge for dinner ladies (lunchtime supervisors) to
ensure all children are fed in the time allowed. The counter where meals are
served is very high and because food remains in the yellow delivery
containers it is impossible for many children to see what is being served at
lunchtimes. The cooks generally lift up spoonfuls of food to show children
what is on offer. Nevertheless, this situation meant that children were making
the decision about what to choose for lunch when they arrived at the counter.
This resulted in a very slow queue through the dining room and increased
congestion in the space. In order to overcome this problem the school
developed a menu display board. This was done during ICT lessons with a
year 6 group. The children were asked to design the menu display using
written words and pictures. The menus were then laminated and displayed on
a flipboard outside the dining room where children pick up their dinner plates.
Consequently, children were able to think about what they wanted for lunch
while waiting in the queue and this resulted in less time spent queuing and
less congestion in the dining room. Pictures of menu items were also
displayed above the counter and changed on a daily basis by breakfast club
attendees. This further informed children about their lunch options providing
an image of the food to ensure that access to menu information was not
dependent on reading ability. Children felt that there was a sense of
ownership in the dining room. They had renamed their dining room ‘Longhill
Cool Café’ and a sign was displayed on the door. Children in year 5
commented that this helped to deliver an important message that the dining

room was ‘their’ space.

Golden Spoon

The golden spoon award was created by the headteacher to encourage
positive behaviour in the dining room. As previously stated, lunch is served in
a very small space in this school and this means that children can get
frustrated with each other very quickly. In order to promote good behaviour

and to encourage children to try new foods and show courtesy to their fellow

94



116

diners, the golden spoon award was developed. Each week one of the pupils
is nominated by the dinner ladies to receive the golden spoon. Winners of the
spoon are entitled to choose a number of friends and a teacher to dine with
them on the golden table on the following Tuesday. The Golden table is set
with a table cloth and flowers. Diners at the golden table are allowed to enter
the dining room first and the golden spoon is presented by the headteacher at
a special assembly on a Friday morning in front of the whole school. Everyone
claps and cheers the recipient. This has proved extremely popular with the
children and has had a tangible effect in promoting positive behaviour in the

dining room.

Maybury

Maybury school has approximately 250 children on roll and is regarded as
being in a challenging catchment area with significant levels of deprivation.
The proportion of children receiving free school meals was 57.7% at the start
of the scheme, the second highest in the LEA and far exceeding both the
national average 21% and the LA average 32%. Take up of the meals was
among the highest in the local authority and far exceeded the proportion of

eligible students. See Table 2 below.

Table 12
Maybury LEA average
Year 1 73.9% 52%
Year 2 100% 63.2%
Year 3 85.9% 64%

Maybury commenced free healthy school meals provision in January 2005
and take up immediately rose from 68% in December to 80% in January. The
school improved upon and maintained excellent take up rates throughout the

course of the ‘Eat Well Do Well’ project.

95




117

Maybury school also had a delivery kitchen for the duration of the project and
the dining room was large, cold and noisy. The dining room was not a dual
purpose space and was solely used for the purposes of having lunch.
Nevertheless, the immediate impression on entering the dining room was that
it was cold and unwelcoming. Maybury school implemented particularly
innovative practice in respect of their organisation of the dining room at

lunchtime.

Seamless provision

In the early stages of the project evaluation observations revealed that there
were considerable problems with discipline in this school dining room. This
was already acknowledged by the head teacher and by lunchtime staff
including dinner ladies and cooks. The school embarked on a process of
lunchtime reorganisation, whereby teachers were encouraged to eat with the
children in the dining room to maintain discipline and to socialise with children
around the table. In order to achieve this the lunchtime period was included as
part of school day so that teachers did not have to give up their own time to sit
and eat with the children. Teachers still had an equivalent lunch break, but
this was staggered so that their break might come before or after the
children’s lunchtime. This ensured that over the lunch period in the dining
room, teachers were available to supervise children. This supervision started
in the classroom where children were encouraged to wash their hands and to
line up in the class. The whole class then walked down to the dining room
together. The class lined up outside the dining room and the lunchtime
supervisors would allocate six children to each table. Once seated, children
remained at the table until they were told to approach the counter. Bread and
water were provided on the table so that children could help themselves when
they wished. Tables were also laid with plates and cutlery and this helped to

add to a restaurant style atmosphere.

Children were called up to the counter table by table. This reduced the
amount of time that they spent standing in a queue and thus children were
less likely to become bored and frustrated and engage in inappropriate

behaviour. Children received their main course and their dessert at the same

96



118

time and sat back in their allocated seats. Many children sat with their class
teacher on their table and this meant that there were fewer arguments
between children. Additionally, lunchtime supervisors were also at liberty to
monitor the queue, organise children going up to the counter, cut up food and
keep the area clean and tidy, dealing with any spillages as they occurred.
Teachers regarded it as their role to encourage children to try different foods
and to inculcate appropriate table manners. In the school this was known as
Social Etiquette Training. Once all children had finished their meal, they were
allowed to leave the table at the teacher’s discretion. However, some children
that were particularly fast eaters were allowed to leave earlier to avoid
stigmatising the slower eaters. Over the course of the ‘Eat Well Do Well’
Scheme the dining room was transformed into a pleasant dining environment.
Crucial to this was the incorporation of the lunchtime into the school day so
that lunchtime practices began in the classroom and carried through into the

dining room.

Bricknell

Children in this school were called up for lunch on a rotating basis so that
each year group had a chance to have lunch first. Children were called for
lunch a class at a time so that children were able to play for as long as
possible and were not left waiting and queuing for too long. In the summer
time children are able to eat outside on picnic benches. This is hugely popular
with the children.

Fifth Avenue

Two dining rooms were available in this school so that the noise levels were
reduced as each room was not filled to capacity. This also meant that
children were not rushed to eat their lunch quickly as there was room for

everyone.

Newland St Johns
This school encouraged children to try new foods, often tasters would be
available for children to try something new. Children having a packed lunch

as well as those staying for school dinners were able to sample the foods to

97



119

see if they liked them. Bagged lunches were trialled in this school so that
children involved in a lunch club could choose a nutritionally balanced bagged
lunch instead of a hot dinner. The school council often discussed the food
options available and, following a suggestion by the council, the school made
available vegetable soup as a starter in winter. This school purchased
colourful dishes on which to serve the food instead of using large institutional

trays.

Francis Askew

Francis askew used a buddy system at lunch time where older children
helped the younger children collect their meals and assisted with carrying
their dinner to the table. The different age groups ate their meal together

which often resulted in positive peer modelling.

Pupils at this school worked on a rotating basis to act as dining room
monitors, helping others scrape and stack their trays neatly at the end of

lunch.

Francis Askew’s breakfast club encouraged children to get involved in activity
exercises. Balls were provided for games, music played as children practiced
dance routines and the breakfast supervisor organised games of musical
chairs each day. This school invited each child, one class at a time, to invite a
parent, carer or relative to join them for lunch, this was a successful way to
allow the family members to see how good the school meals provision

actually was.

Clifton

The staff at this school are all encouraged to stay for school dinners, leading
to positive peer modelling. As this is a small school the cook was able to
have a good understanding of children’s likes and dislikes and used this to her
advantage when preparing the food on the menu. This school changed its
meal service so that children were first served their main meal, which they
would sit down and eat and then go back up for their pudding. This process

was put in place to encourage children to eat more of their main meal before

98



120

filling up on their pudding. This school also purchased crockery and stopped

serving meals on flight trays.

99



121

Section 5
Since the reintroduction of charges for school dinners by the

Liberal Democrat administration

Since the reintroduction of charges by the Liberal Democrat administration in
September 2007, we have been advised by the Council that uptake fell back
to worse than previous levels but is on the rise again. Unfortunately, obtaining
accurate data on school meal uptake from the Council has proven to be very
difficult since the system to collect these data was untried and untested. As a

result we cannot record the current level of uptake of school meals.

Interviews with Headteachers

Several headteachers were interviewed about the impact of the re-
introduction of charges on their school communities. All the headteachers
were concerned about the re-introduction for a variety of reasons. It is worth
noting that these interviews took place only a few months after the re-
introduction of charges and some suggested that the true impact might not be
seen for over a term. The gradual rise in uptake after the re-introduction could
be a natural trend in that more children stay for hot dinners during the colder

months. In other words the rise in uptake is ‘typical’ for this time of the year.

The first point made by the headteachers is that there will be a return of
‘chaos’ and ‘mess’ to many dining rooms. More children will be staying for
packed lunch — they will be segregated one way or another from those
children staying for school dinners, leading to cramped eating or dining
conditions for the children. In addition, packed lunches usually mean more
mess in the dining room — especially litter on the floor under the tables.
Interestingly, some dinner ladies do not see it as their role to ‘service’ children
staying for packed lunch. In one school, dinner ladies refuse to tidy up after

packed lunch children or even prepare tables for them.
Significantly, the headteachers tell us that their will be a considerable cost to

collect dinner money again. One headteacher told the evaluation team that he

thinks it will cost his school approximately £100.00 per week. This is funding

100



122

from the school budget. Several headteachers complained that they weren’t
given any financial support by the Council to manage the re-introduction of

charges.

The extra dinner money had to be collected and the process of doing so,
according to several headteachers meant that time was taken away from
teaching and learning - another unintended consequence which

headteachers thought hadn’t really been thought through by the Council.

According to the headteachers interviewed, their schools are now facing an
increased debt as a result of the re-introduction of charges. Not only as a
result of the costs incurred with directly collecting dinner money but also
because a large proportion of parents aren’t paying when they should be. One
school told the evaluation team they have to employ a staff member on
Fridays specifically to contact and chase up parents who don’t pay for their
children’s dinners when they should. This is leading to an increase in some
schools’ debt. Unfortunately the headteachers do not expect the Council to be

sympathetic to their plight.

Headteachers are concerned that over time there will be an increase in the
number of poor quality packed lunches. One headteacher called this “the
return of the Jaffa Cake” in recognition that some packed lunched are simply

a packet of biscuits.

Headteachers were also concerned that, with the increase in the number of
packed lunches, there will also be a concomitant increase in peer pressure on
children, stigma and worsening behaviour. Headteachers have already
provided evidence to the evaluation team that behaviour, especially of boys,

has worsened with the increased number of packed lunches.

Comments from Parents on the re-introduction of charges
Now that parents are paying for their children’s school meals they are
definitely becoming more discerning over the quality and available choice of

food. If you like, they are becoming ‘critical consumers’ of children’s meals at

101



123

lunchtime. It was quite clear from the focus groups that the parents wanted to
have more say in the choice of food available to their children (actually in the
whole menu). Some were critical over the amount of food their children were
given...”’'m paying £1.10 for nothing! My kids are starving when they get
home from school”’. Parents weren’t able to determine for sure what their
children had had to eat nor the amount when they stayed for school dinners.
This was one reason why some parents preferred packed lunches...they felt
they actually knew what their children had eaten because the wrappers came
home in the packed lunch box. Parents of year 6 children wanted bigger
portions for their children and certainly enough food provided by schools to
last for all the children each lunchtime. Parents were convinced that schools
ran out of food for the later sittings (the evaluation team have witnessed this

too).

Parents are also demanding now more awareness by schools of the dietary

needs of special needs children and vegetarians.

For some families meeting the cost of the school dinners is prohibitive. One
parent commented how the grandparents were paying for the children’s
school dinners because she couldn’t afford them. Others stated that other
family activities such as swimming classes were being denied to their
children. For families with more than one child the cost is prohibitive. The
parents commented that in addition to the cost of the school dinner they also
have to pay £25-£30 for childcare per day and some suggested that they can’t

afford the expensive uniforms currently demanded by schools.

Mothers in particular are noticing that they are spending less time with their
children in the morning. Instead, they are preparing packed lunches in the
kitchen. When their children do stay for hot dinners and the parents are
unsure what they have eaten, the parents will often cook a hot tea. One issue
related to this according to some parents is that their children are now going

to bed later.

102



124

In the parent questionnaire administered and completed by about 500 parents

after the re-introduction of charges the parents also commented:

Free school meals for all was proven in some schools to increase attendance,
educational achievement and children's health. They are sorely missed. Poverty and
social deprivation are widespread in Hull - it may not be a coincidence that
educational achievement is also low. Hull really needs innovative boosts like this to

make a difference to our children.

Very short sighted by the Council. All children should receive free healthy school
meals. This would keep the majority of children in school over lunchtime. Less
accidents, less litter, less hassle for local residents. Also, healthy meals provided over
a prolonged period would mean healthier children, less illness, improved educational

standards and exam results.

Support for EWDW from parents was very high when the scheme was first
introduced - 92% supported the healthy element, 92% supported the free
element and 99% supported the free fruit. Indeed, overall, 93% of parents
thought the scheme was a good idea and only 5% thought the scheme was a

waste of money.

After three years of the scheme 92% still supported the healthy part of the

scheme, 82% supported the free element and 99% still supported the fruit.

Of those parents who paid for school meals:
50% paid less than £6.00 per week

30% £6.00 - 12.00 and

20% above £12.

Only 11% of ‘pack up parents’ spent more than £12 per week which suggests

that for those parents with larger families, pack ups are more economical.

103




125

We asked the parents about the lunch choice for their children during the time
the dinners were free and then for after charges were re-introduced. We
compared the choices of the first two children in any one family with the
choices for low income families in particular (low income being defined as
household income between £20-30,000 per annum — we assumed those
families on incomes below £20,000 were generally eligible to free school

meals).

Changes in Lunch Choice

Hot dins Hot Differ pack pack up Differ
pre dinners  ence up pre  post ence
charges post charges charges

charges

Child1 73% 46% 24% 52% +28%
overall
Low 76% 37% 18% 63% +45%
income
Child2 74% 45% 23% 53% +30%
overall

Low 78% 33% 17% 67% +50%
income

Low Income = Household income between £20-30, 000 per annum

We were interested in the food choices of the parents in this level of
household income because many educators believe this ‘band’ of parents,
just above the eligibility ‘threshold’, are the ones hardest hit by the
reintroduction of charges for school dinners. The data in the table above
confirm this view. For the first child in families overall there has been a
reduction of 27% of the numbers of these children staying for school
dinners...with a rise of 28% of these children now taking a packed lunch to

school. For the second child in families overall there has been a reduction of

104



126

29% of the numbers of these children staying for school dinners...with a rise

of 30% of these children now taking packed lunch.

However, for the first child from low income families staying for school dinners
there is a reduction of 39% and an increase in these children taking packed
lunch in the order of 45%. This is exacerbated for the second child in low
income families: there has been a 45% reduction in second children staying
for school dinners with a huge increase of 50% of these children now taking

packed lunch daily.

We also asked the parents their views of the Council in several key areas:

Whether they trusted the Council to make the right choices for their children’s
health and education.

Whether the Council put the people of Hull first.

Whether the Council could solve problems in innovative ways.

Whether the Council could manage finances and

Whether the Council made children a priority.

The responses were remarkable. There was a high degree of trust in the
Council during the Eat Well Do Well initiative (apart from parent’s perceptions
of the Council’s ability to manage finances at 41%). However, after the re-

introduction of charges parent’s views of the Council have plummeted.

105



127

Parents’ views of the Council

Then Now Difference

Right choices for 87% 19% -68%
children’s health

Right choices for 75% 18% -57%
children’s education

Put Hull people first 62% 11% -51%

Solve problems in 52% 9% -43%
innovative ways

Manage Finances 41% 14% -27%

Make children a priority 77% 14% -63%

Clearly, the biggest changes in parents thoughts of the Council are in whether
or not the Council makes the right choices for children’s health and education
as well as whether or not the Council puts children first. It would be interesting
to repeat this parent survey later in 2008 to see if these parental perceptions

have embedded or changed.

Conclusion

There are many other pointers for future research and activity for the Council:
the re-measurement of children’s perceptions of health and their school meals
in May/June 2008 to examine further the impact of the re-introduction of
charges; interviewing headteachers and parents again in May/June 2008; the
investigation of gender issues in relation to children’s experiences of
lunchtime; the engagement of parents in school meals (and probably
curriculum in healthy eating); examining family food practices across a longer
time span with a particular focus on eating choices and healthy purchasing;
monitoring the long term impact on those children who have experienced the
EWDW over three years, especially as they transition into secondary school;
following the training of lunchtime supervisors and monitor the impact of this

training on children’s eating and dining room behaviour, to name but a few.

106



128

For the three year duration of Eat Well Do Well Hull City Council was the envy
of local authorities up and down the country. In 2004 it displayed a vision,
ambition and action to invest in the future of its children and families. This
report has shown the many tangible benefits of the initiative to schools,
families and children across the city. It is clear from the evaluation that the
longer the initiative was in place the greater the impact and benefits on a
range of measures. It is significant that, in relation to children’s perceptions of
health and their health behaviours, there are little if any differences between

those children who are eligible for school dinners and those who are not.

The evaluation also suggests that the learning environment for all children is
supported by the provision of free, healthy school meals. Headteachers tell us
that schools are calmer places within which to learn and socialise. It is a pity
that the City will not see the benefits of this supportive learning environment
since the re-introduction of charges by the Liberal Democrat administration in
September 2007.

107



Agenda Annex 12

This page is intentionally blank.



Children’s Services and Education Scrutiny Sub-Committee 2010/2011
Distribution List

Copies Copies
Members and Reserves Council Officers
Councillor David Hubber (Chair) 1 Julie Timbrell, Scrutiny Team [spares] 6
Cc')uncnlor'The Right Revd Emmanuel Oyewole 1 Shelley Burke, Head of Overview & Scrutiny 1
(Vice-Chair)
Coundillor Sunil Chopra y Roml| Bowen, Strategic Director of Children’s y
Services
. . Rory Patterson, Assistant Director of Specialist
Councillor Adele Morris 1 Children’s Services and Safeguarding 1
. Mike Smith, Head of Early Prevention and
Councillor Cleo Soanes 1 . . } . 1
Intervention, Children's Services
. . . Elaine Allegretti, Head of Strategy, Planning
Councillor Rosie Shimell 1 and Performance, Children's Services 1
Councillor Althea Smith y Paulllne Armour, As§|stant Plrect'or 5-1 1' y
Services and Inclusion, Children's Services
Eleanor Parkin, Policy Officer, Children's y
Services
Councillor Darren Merrill (Reserve) y Merr!l Haeusler, eruty Director of Children's y
Services - Education
Councillor Victoria Mills (Reserve) 1 Sarah Feasey, Principal Lawyer, Strategic 1
Services
Councillor Lisa Rajan (Reserve) 1 John Bibby, Principal Cabinet Assistant 1
Councillor Nick Stanton (Reserve) 1 Alex Doel, Cabinet Office 1
Councillor Mark Williams (Reserve) 1 Paul Green, Opposition Group Office 1
Kerry Crichlow, Assistant Director Strategy and y
Support, Children's Services
Education Representatives
Revd Nicholas Elder 1
Colin Elliott 1
Leticia Ojeda 1
Nick Tildesley
Other Members
Councillor Catherine McDonald 1
Councillor Catherine Bowman 1
Local History Library 1
TOTAL DISTRIBUTION 38

For amendments to this list or for extra copies of the agenda, contact the scrutiny team — ph.: 020 7525 7291 or

e-mail: scrutiny@southwark.gov.uk.




	Agenda
	5 Children and Young People Plan (CYPP) with Southwark Youth Council and Speakerbox
	Appendix 1 CYPP review
	CYPP review  progress achieving priorities

	7 School Admissions review  - feedback
	ReviewofSchoolAdmissionsResponsetoScrutinyAppendix1erim

	9 Review of universal Free Healthy School Meals
	
	

